

Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2023

# Analyzing Veterans Affairs Telehealth Services Between Rural and Urban Centers in West Virginia

Vicki J. Dix Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations

Part of the Medicine and Health Sciences Commons

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection at ScholarWorks. It has been accepted for inclusion in Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks. For more information, please contact ScholarWorks@waldenu.edu.

# Walden University

College of Management and Human Potential

This is to certify that the doctoral study by

## Vicki Dix

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee Dr. Miriam Ross, Committee Chairperson, Health Sciences Faculty Dr. Eboni Green, Committee Member, Health Sciences Faculty Dr. Kristin Wiginton, University Reviewer, Health Sciences Faculty

> Chief Academic Officer and Provost Sue Subocz, Ph.D.

> > Walden University 2023

Abstract

Analyzing Veterans Affairs Telehealth Services Between Rural and Urban Centers

in West Virginia

by

Vicki Dix

EMBA, Walden University, 2014

MSN, Walden University, 2012

BSN, Alderson Broaddus University, 2006

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Healthcare Administration

Walden University

May 2023

## Abstract

Veterans often have difficulty accessing health care within the Veterans Affairs (VA) system, contributing to the growing need for health care services in rural communities. The increasing demand for health care services in rural communities is driven by the aging population, an increase in life expectancy, and an increase in chronic disease. This quantitative study aimed to explore the relationship between the type of appointment and patient location on initial primary care and telehealth primary care wait times for veterans in West Virginia. The two research questions addressed the independent variables, type of appointment (telehealth or face to face) and patient location (urban vs. rural), and the impact, if any, on the dependent variables, initial primary care and telehealth primary care wait time. The independent t test and the Mann-Whitney U test analyzed the data. Secondary data were obtained from VA Informatics and Computing Infrastructure. Donabedian's 1966 framework on structural, process, and outcomes standards applies to access to care and provided the theoretical framework for this quantitative study. Analyses indicated a significant relationship between the type of appointment and the average wait time, as well as patient location and type of appointment. The F2F initial primary care visits were higher than telehealth conducted via telephone visits, and the average wait time was lower in the F2F visits than in those conducted via telehealth/telephone. Also, the wait times were higher for rural patients than for urban patients. The results of this study may lead to positive social change by contributing to a more focused allocation of health care resources through considerations of innovative telehealth services in rural communities.

## Analyzing Veterans Affairs Telehealth Services Between Rural and Urban Centers

in West Virginia

by

Vicki Dix

EMBA, Walden University, 2014

MSN, Walden University, 2012

BSN, Alderson Broaddus University, 2006

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Healthcare Administration

Walden University

May 2023

## Dedication

I dedicate this project to my wonderful husband; whose support and encouragement gave me the strength I needed to complete this journey. I also dedicate this study to my daughter and granddaughter, Tricia and Gianna, who supported me and encouraged me to achieve this goal.

## Acknowledgments

I want to thank God; all the glory belongs to Him for leading me, guiding me, and giving me the spiritual strength needed to make my DHA dream come true. I want to give a special thanks to Dr. Miriam Ross, who always knew when to reach out and call and give the extra encouragement needed to get through each section. Also, I would like to acknowledge that Walden University genuinely wants to ensure every student is successful and offers support and guidance throughout every step.

## Table of Contents

List of Tablesv
List of Figures
Section 1: Foundation of the Study and Literature Review1
Background
Problem Statement4
Purpose of the Study7
Research Questions and Hypotheses8
Theoretical Foundation10
Nature of the Study
Literature Search Strategy13
Literature Review Related to Key Variables14
Access to Care14
Veterans' Rural Versus Urban Health Care16
West Virginia Information18
Wait Times for Primary Care Appointments 19
Hospitalizations and Telehealth Services for Veterans
COVID-19 and Telehealth Services for Veterans
Literature Review Summary
Definitions26
Assumptions
Scope and Delimitations

Limitations	29
Significance	29
Summary and Conclusions	30
Section 2: Research Design and Data Collection	31
Research Design and Rationale	31
Methodology	32
Population	
Sampling and Sampling Procedures Used to Collect Data	
VA Informatics and Computing Infrastructure Sampling	
Sampling Plan	
Instrumentation and Operationalization of Constructs	
Data Analysis Plan	
Threats to Validity	40
External Threats to Validity	
Internal Threats to Validity	
Ethical Procedures	41
Summary	41
Section 3: Presentation of the Results and Findings	43
Data Collection of Secondary Data	45
Descriptive Characteristics of Sample and Population	45
Test for Homogeneity of Variance	46
Test of Normality Assumption	48

Descriptive Statistics	49
Study Results for Research Questions and Variables	50
Statistical Assumptions	50
Results of Statistical Analysis for Research Question 1	51
Summary Results of Research Question 1	52
Results of Statistical Analysis for Research Question 2	53
Summary Results of Research Question 2	55
Summary of Research Questions Results and Hypotheses	55
Summary	56
Section 4: Application to Professional Practice and Implication for Social Change	57
Introduction	57
Interpretation of the Findings	58
Research Question 1 Analysis	58
Research Question 2 Analysis	58
Findings to the Literature	59
Findings to Theory	60
Limitations of the Study	61
Recommendations	62
Implications for Professional Practice and Social Change	63
Professional Practice	63
Positive Social Change	64
Conclusion	64

References
------------

## List of Tables

Table 1. Variables and Population for Research Question 1	8
Table 2. Variables and Population for Research Question 2	8
Table 3. Sample Size Power Analysis (Independent-Sample t Test)	36
Table 4. Operational Definitions of Variables	38
Table 5. New Patient Visits in 2020	46
Table 6. Levene's Test for Equality of Variance	47
Table 7. Normality Test for Wait Times Between the Groups	49
Table 8. Group Statistics	50
Table 9. Mann-Whitney $U$ Test—Average Wait Times and Type of Visits (F2F and	
Telephone)	51
Table 10. Mann-Whitney $U$ Test—Average Wait Time and Location (Urban and	
Rural)	54

# List of Figures

Figure 1. Donabedian Model for Assessment of Quality of Care	11
Figure 2. Population, Sample, and Individual Cases Example	35
Figure 3. Independent-Samples Mann Whitney U Test for Location	52
Figure 4. Independent-Samples Mann-Whitney U Test for Location	54

Section 1: Foundation of the Study and Literature Review

The Department of Veterans Affairs (VA) and Veterans Health Administration (VHA) operate one of the largest health care systems in the nation, with 172 medical centers and more than 1,000 outpatient facilities (Government Accountability Office, 2018; Massarweh et al., 2020). The VA Office of Rural Health (ORH) estimates that there are 2.8 million rural veterans who are enrolled in and rely on the VA's health care system (Bowser & Washington, 2020). Many veterans live in rural areas, where it may be challenging to provide comprehensive, high-quality health care to them. As mentioned by Massarweh et al. (2020) and Rural Health Information Hub (RHIhub, 2020), veterans choose rural communities for various reasons, such as closer proximity to family, friends, and community; open space for recreation; more privacy; lower cost of living; and less crowded towns and schools, and they may find that resources for health care are limited.

West Virginia was the chosen state for this study due to its rurality. West Virginia is number three of the top 10 most rural states in the United States and the only state that lies entirely within Appalachia (Kennedy-Rea et al., 2021; World Population Review, 2022a). West Virginia's population is 1,755,715, with 895,414 of the population living in rural communities (World Population Review, 2022b). West Virginia continues to perform poorly across key health measures, including diabetes, heart disease, cancer, and drug overdose mortality (Kennedy-Rea et al., 2021). West Virginia has the nation's highest prevalence of poor physical and mental health (Kennedy-Rea et al., 2021; West Virginia Health Statistics Center, 2019). A variety of complex factors drive these health

rankings and disparate perceptions, including deficits in health access and lack of emphasis on preventative care (Kennedy-Rea et al., 2021).

Military veterans in the United States are more likely than the general population to live in rural areas and often have limited geographic access to VHA facilities (Ohl et al., 2018; Shayman et al., 2019). To improve access for veterans living far from VHA facilities, the recently enacted Veterans Choice Act directed VHA to purchase care from non-VHA providers for veterans who live more than 40 miles from the nearest VHA facility (Gordon et al., 2021; Ohl et al., 2018; Pettey et al., 2021). The goal of the Choice Act was to increase timely access to health services, including primary care, when barriers prevented access within a VA facility (Gordon et al., 2021; Pettey et al., 2021). However, the initiative may not significantly improve their access to care, as these areas are underserved by non-VHA providers (Gordon et al., 2021; Ohl et al., 2018; Pettey et al., 2021).

This study focused on primary care access for veterans in West Virginia because it is explicitly referenced in the Choice Act but has received less attention than specialty services in the literature (Gordon et al., 2021; Gurewich et al., 2021). Existing studies are generally limited by their focus on a single type of service (e.g., mental health) and reliance on small, nonrandom samples and access to primary care data (Gordon et al., 2021; Gurewich et al., 2021).

The following section provides the background and states the study's research problem, purpose, and relevance. In addition, the section contains the research questions (RQs) and hypotheses, theoretical framework, study variables, and gap in the literature that the study was conducted to address. Definitions and assumptions, scope, delimitations, limitations, and significance are also included in this section.

### Background

As state spending on health care increases, policymakers look for ways to assess care cost-effectively to improve their constituents' health (Enlund, 2019). Enhancing and increasing access to health care services through telehealth is widely viewed as one strategy to help address workforce shortages and reach patients in rural areas (Enlund, 2019). Many veterans struggle to access needed services in a timely fashion (Me et al., 2018; Wagner, 2019). Veterans aged 65 and above represent 57% of all rural veterans who are enrolled in the VHA (Lum et al., 2019). These older adults often have multiple chronic conditions and aging-related issues that require care from multiple disciplines, including primary care, and yet accessing these services at a health care facility may require extensive travel (Lum et al., 2019). Preliminary evidence suggests that distance due to rurality can lead to delays in accessing care and greater morbidity and mortality (Me et al., 2018; Wagner, 2019). Telehealth gives veterans in rural areas access to more providers and allows them to receive care in their communities instead of traveling long distances (Enlund, 2019; Heyworth et al., 2020).

Nevertheless, in envisioning a telehealth-enabled future, one must remember that many clinical conditions require physical examinations or interventions, and that care is human and relational (Blandford et al., 2020). To date, investment has been insufficient in developing technologies that work for clinicians and patients and adapting health care on systems and lifestyles to exploit these technologies fully (Blandford et al., 2020). To realize the long-term benefits of telehealth, organizations need to collaborate and learn what works well, where, when, why, and how (Blandford et al., 2020). Governments need to support the health technology industry in developing and testing novel telehealth solutions that are simultaneously safe and agile (Blandford et al., 2020). By exploring the impact, if any, of the type of appointment and patient location on initial primary care and telehealth primary care for veterans in West Virginia, the results may support researchers and health care leaders in addressing telehealth and access to care in ways that will improve the quality of rural health care. With continued emphasis in the VHA on expanding care, it is important that the effects on timely access to care, particularly for vulnerable groups such as rural veterans, are carefully evaluated (Gordon et al., 2021; Gurewich et al., 2021).

#### **Problem Statement**

Access to health care is essential for maintaining good health, but people in rural areas often face specific barriers to access, including in primary care (Lahr et al., 2021). Factors contributing to health care barriers in rural areas include workforce shortages and transportation challenges (Lahr et al., 2021). Studies have shown that for rural patients, there is a higher prevalence of chronic disease and lung cancer, higher mortality, a significant gap in life expectancy, and lack of access to health care (Coughlin et al., 2019). Primary care workforce shortages and difficulty accessing needed specialty services result in unnecessary emergency room trips and hospital readmissions (Council on Graduate Medical Education, 2020).

To address pressing rural health concerns in the United States, continued policy development and policy-oriented health services research are needed (Coughlin et al., 2019). Addressing rural health concerns will also assist providers and decision/policymakers at the federal, state, and local levels in understanding problems faced by rural communities and provide information that can be applied to improve health care access and population health (Coughlin et al., 2019).

VA recognizes the need to provide accessible care to rural veterans and allocates 32% of its health care budget to rural veteran care (RHIhub, 2020). However, the ability of VHA to deliver care in a timely fashion came under increased scrutiny during the 1990s, and according to the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC), those living in rural neighborhoods have more significant difficulties accessing telehealth services than those in more urban neighborhoods (CDC, 2019; Wong et al., 2017). There may be less technological or remote access in rural locations, making it either impossible or extremely slow to run the Internet; this significantly disrupts the ability to utilize telehealth tools such as videoconferencing (VC). Furthermore, not all VA offices may have the necessary equipment, which becomes an administrative problem within the VA as administrators must find ways to surmount these issues (CDC, 2019).

CDC (2019) and the National Center for Chronic Disease Prevention and Health Promotion (2019) work to improve health care in these areas by

• measuring how many Americans have chronic diseases or disease risk factors and reporting data down to the county level

- studying and reporting on rural health disparities and innovative programs to reduce those disparities
- funding and guiding states, territories, and tribes to reach rural populations through proven interventions and innovative programs
- developing programs and promoting care through digital formats, such as online classes or "telehealth" approaches to reduce health care access barriers for rural residents

Examining the differences between telehealth services in rural and urban areas may provide information to health care administrators, organizations, and providers about ways to expand access to care and improve the quality of rural health care (RHIhub, 2021). This study focused on the type of appointment (telehealth or face to face [F2F]), patient location (urban vs. rural), and the impact, if any, on the initial primary care and initial telehealth primary care wait times for veterans in West Virginia. The American Hospital Association (AHA, 2016) reported that telehealth was associated with a 25 percent reduction in bed days of care and a 19 percent reduction in hospital admissions across all VHA patients utilizing telehealth. Leung et al. (2019) conducted a study concerning primary care access to care. The study results indicated that although the VA is trying to strengthen services in some areas, more is needed and may be difficult to access due to the costs. In a study by Ortiz-Velez and Garcia-Baran (2019), veterans mentioned that their care is hindered by a lack of access to care due to location, long wait times to see specialists, and poor communication with staff. Finding ways to improve

access through innovative means such as telehealth services could improve health outcomes for veterans (Leung et al., 2019; Ortiz-Velez & Garcia-Baran, 2019).

#### **Purpose of the Study**

The purpose of this quantitative study was to explore the relationship between the type of appointment (telehealth or face to face) and patient location (urban vs. rural) on initial primary care and initial telehealth primary care wait times. Since the emergence of COVID-19, several studies have been conducted on telehealth; however, no known research has been done to compare the primary care wait times within veterans' health care facilities in West Virginia for patients who used telehealth services. The independent variable was type of appointment (telehealth or F2F) and patient residence (urban vs. rural), while the dependent variables were primary care wait times and telehealth primary care wait times. Rural geographic locations were Clarksburg and Beckley, while Huntington and Martinsburg represented urban regions, as determined by Rural Urban Commuting Area (RUCA) and the ORH (2021).

Within the VA system, access to care is measured by veteran satisfaction surveys (quality of care) and wait times for veterans' appointments completed over the month (National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine, 2018; Zhenzhen & Calvin, 2017). Measuring wait time from the date an appointment was requested until the date the appointment was completed is the most accurate measure for new veterans because it indicates the actual average number of days that veterans have waited for an appointment (Access to Care, 2022). Health care administrators and professionals have determined that wait times for patients' first appointments are important when measuring access to

care, and this was studied for veterans living in West Virginia (Access to Care, 2019; Zhenzhen & Calvin, 2017). This research could inform hospital administrations and federal agencies about the need to address barriers to support the expansion of telehealth to address rural health disparities. Table 1 and Table 2 show the relationships for the independent and dependent variables and the type of analysis that was performed.

## Table 1

Variables and Population for Research Question 1

Independent variable	Dependent variable	Population	Analysis
Type of appointment (telehealth or face to face)	Primary care wait time	West Virginia veterans	Independent-samples t test / Mann U because the wait times are counted in days

## Table 2

Variables and Population for Research Question 2

Independent variable	Dependent	Population	Analysis
	variable		
Patient residence (urban vs. rural)	Telehealth primary care wait time	West Virginia veterans	Independent-samples t test/Mann U because the wait times are counted in days

## **Research Questions and Hypotheses**

RQ1: Is there a significant difference in the initial primary care wait time (time

between appointment schedule and appointment) between VA telehealth

appointments and face-to-face appointments scheduled in 2020?

- H<sub>0</sub>1: There is not a significant difference in the initial primary care wait time (time between appointment schedule and appointment)
  between VA telehealth appointments and face-to-face appointments scheduled in 2020.
- *H*<sub>1</sub>1: There is a significant difference in the initial primary care wait time (time between appointment schedule and appointment)
  between VA telehealth appointments and face-to-face appointments scheduled in 2020.
- RQ2: Is there a significant difference in telehealth initial primary care wait time (time between appointment schedule and appointment) between urban patients and rural patients who had a telehealth visit with the VA in West Virginia in 2020?
  - $H_02$ : There is not a significant difference in telehealth initial primary care wait time (time between appointment schedule and appointment) between urban patients and rural patients who had a telehealth visit with the VA in West Virginia in 2020.
  - $H_12$ : There is a significant difference in telehealth initial primary care wait time (time between appointment schedule and appointment) between urban patients and rural patients who had a telehealth visit with the VA in West Virginia in 2020.

#### **Theoretical Foundation**

The theory that grounded this study was Donabedian's 1966 framework on structural, process, and outcomes standards related to access to care (Ayanian & Markel, 2016; Donabedian, 1966). This framework outlines the challenges of access to quality health care, including the need for a broader approach to quality measurements beyond the technical management of illness, incorporating assessments of prevention, economic efficiency, and societal values (Ayanian & Markel, 2016; Moore et al., 2015). There are six core aims for the 21st century's health care system, delivering safe, effective, patientcentered, timely, efficient, and equitable health care (Ayanian & Markel, 2016).

The VA measures patient-level wait times for more than a decade by calculating the interval between a patient's request for an appointment and when the meeting occurs. This measure indicates whether there is success in meeting Donabedian's six goals in relation to access to care; it incorporates timely and efficient goals and patient-centered aims (Ayanian & Markel, 2016; Moore et al., 2015). Analyzing access to care within rural communities involves exploring telehealth and its capabilities, including the bandwidth, policies, and practices in each VA center; a systematic, data-driven process is used to evaluate these measures.

## Figure 1



Donabedian Model for Assessment of Quality of Care

"Structured" measures describe the physical and organizational setting in which health care is delivered, including health care facilities, personnel, and equipment that supports medical care (Donabedian, 1966; Nocella et al., 2016). For this study, the operational definition of *structure* is primary care, with the setting being urban and rural communities. Primary care wait times measured in days from the day the veteran requested the appointment to the actual appointment represent structure. "Process," which relies on "structure" to provide the mechanism for patient care, describes the actions that allow for the adequate delivery of health care (Donabedian, 1966; Nocella et al., 2016). Telehealth is the focus and is measured by the veterans who utilize telehealth for the initial primary care visit. "Outcome" describes the effect of health care on patient and population health status, which is the desired result of the care process (Donabedian, 1966; Nocella et al., 2016). For this study, decreased wait times represented the outcome.

The logical connections between the framework presented and the nature of this study include looking at the Donabedian framework to evaluate the structure, process,

and outcome of telehealth, specifically comparing type of appointment (telehealth or F2F) and patient residence (urban vs. rural) on the initial primary care and initial telehealth primary care wait times.

Literature review and data demonstrate that Donabedian's structure elements are related to access to care and telehealth, including how the telehealth system's features, such as its resources, promote health care service delivery in geographic locations and improve health outcomes amongst veterans.

#### Nature of the Study

In this research, I used the quantitative method, using secondary data from the VA Informatics and Computing Infrastructure (VINCI) database to examine the relationship between the independent variables, type of appointment (telehealth or F2F) and patient residence (urban vs. rural), on the dependent variables, initial primary care and telehealth wait times, for veterans in West Virginia in 2020. VINCI is an Office of Research & Development (ORD) resource that provides researchers a nationwide view of high-value VA patient data (VINCI, 2021). VA research projects utilizing the VINCI database include those pertaining to mental health, quality improvement, chronic disease, women veterans, access, COVID-19, suicide, innovation, telehealth, and posttraumatic stress disorder (PTSD; VINCI, 2021).

The independent and dependent variables were measured using the Current Procedural Technology (CPT) and Clinic Stop Codes from the VINCI database. SPSS is used to perform two statistical analyses for the RQs. Independent-samples *t* tests are used when there are two different (independent) groups of people (males and females) and one is interested in comparing their scores (Pallant, 2020). The Mann-Whitney U test is often presented as the nonparametric alternative to the independent-samples *t*-test, with the former used when data fail the assumptions of the independent-samples *t*-test (Laerd, n.d.). For RQ1, the independent-samples *t*-test and the Mann-Whitney U test were used to determine if there is a statistically significant difference in the type of appointment (telehealth or F2F) in primary care wait times. The test showed whether the appointment type decreases initial primary care wait time. For RQ2, the independent-samples *t*-test and the Mann-Whitney U test were used to determine if there is a statistically significant difference in patient residence (urban vs. rural) in the initial telehealth primary care wait time. The test showed if the patient's residence (urban vs. rural) impacted the telehealth primary care wait time.

#### Literature Search Strategy

The reviewed articles were found primarily through a digital search of scholarly databases, including Medline, PsycINFO, ProQuest, Ovid Medline, PubMed, EBSCOhost, ABI/INFORM, Veterans Office of Research and Development, ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global, CINAHL, Google Scholar, and the World Health Organization (WHO). The search was performed for 2017–2021 and used the following keywords individually and in combination: *rural*, *urban*, *access to care*, *hospital*, *admissions*, *wait times*, *telehealth*, *telemedicine*, *barriers*, *primary care*, *veterans*, and *COVID*. The following resource utilizes the Walden University Library, Google Scholar, and Princeton University Library.

The literature review includes access to care, a review of rural and urban, a discussion about wait times for primary care, a review of hospitalization and telehealth services for veterans, and a discussion on COVID-19 and telehealth.

## Literature Review Related to Key Variables

#### Access to Care

The U.S. Government Accountability Office (2018) designated VA health care as a high-risk area in 2015 due to five areas of concern regarding the VA's ability to provide timely access to safe, high-quality care for veterans The VHA ORH advances the VHA's commitment to improving veterans' health and well-being in rural areas (Lum et al., 2020). Access to health care services is a critical issue in the health care sector (Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services [CMS], 2018). Lack of access can result in unmet health needs, delays in receiving the appropriate care, and preventable hospitalizations (CMS, 2018).

A shortage of health care professionals in rural areas of the United States can restrict access to health care by limiting the supply of available services (RHIhub, 2021). As of March 2021, 61.47% of primary care health professional shortage areas (HPSAs) were located in rural areas (RHIhub, 2021). Across the country, there are more than 17 million people who live in rural counties without a rural health clinic (RHC), more than 15 million in rural counties without a federally qualified health center (FQHC), and nearly 4.5 million in rural counties without an acute hospital (Clawar et al., 2018). Ohl et al. (2018) combined 2013 administrative data on VHA users with country-level data on rurality, non-VHA provider availability, population, and population health status. The results showed that most (77.9%) of the 416,338 VHA users eligible for purchased care based on distance lived in rural counties, and approximately 16% of these veterans lived in primary care shortage areas (Ohl et al., 2018).

Initiatives to improve care are essential for the entire VA health care system to transform the VA into a veteran-centered service organization by incorporating goals such as same-day access to mental health and primary care services for veterans (U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs, 2016). Physicians within the VA system emphasize that the opportunities to improve wait times should include telehealth and virtual physician visits (U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs, 2016). Access to care is about more than wait times because the quality of services is equally essential (CMS, 2018).

To measure patient experiences, the VA uses the Consumer Assessment of Healthcare Providers and Systems (CAHPS) family of surveys, which was developed by the Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality (AHRQ) and is considered the industry standard for measuring patient experiences (U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs, 2020). Improving the timeliness of service is one of five current priorities for the VA, and a comprehensive access measure grounded in veterans' experiences is essential to support the VA's efforts to improve access (Pyne et al., 2020).

Struminger and Arora (2019) found that successful efforts to improve access to care in underserved geographic regions may require a comprehensive approach including more efficient telemedicine use. Telehealth is cited as providing patient care and outcomes which are comparable to standard care delivery (Enlund, 2019). However, much of the research on telehealth's effectiveness is still evolving (Enlund, 2019). Improved access can increase the use of health care services, and most agree that the services would be more appropriate and less costly (e.g., primary care visits are less expensive than emergency room care; Enlund, 2019). Studies have shown the potential benefits that telehealth holds for addressing rural health disparities but identifying the use of telehealth and evaluating patient outcomes are also essential (American Academy of Family Physicians [AAFP], 2020).

#### Veterans' Rural Versus Urban Health Care

The VHA leads the nation in caring for rural veterans (ORH, 2015). The VHA changed how it defines urban and rural areas and uses the Rural-Urban Commuting Areas (RUCA) system to define rurality (ORH, n.d.). RUCA is based on how the U.S. Census Bureau counts citizens and considers population density and how closely a community is linked socioeconomically to larger urban centers (ORH, n.d.).

Lum et al. (2020) conducted a study investigating telehealth access among rural and urban veterans. Lum used quantitative methodology and data from national databases, including the Geriatric Research Education and Clinical Centers, which gather data centered on rural America. The rationale for selecting the variables included establishing rural veterans whose information is contained in the database to promote data uniformity. The focus of the study involved a quantitative method investigating how telehealth improved access to geriatric consultative care. The advantages of telehealth services were evident in the results, which indicated that patient loads were reduced in each clinic after telehealth services were initiated, resulting in reduced workflows per caregiver (Lum et al., 2020). Padala et al. (2020) also conducted a similar study to investigate the effects of telehealth integration in rural regions among veterans during the COVID-19 pandemic and concluded that access to health care improved by using telemedicine. The researchers investigated whether telemedicine promotes quality care, including how it reduces distance barriers limiting veterans' abilities to access timely health care services. A cross-sectional methodology was utilized with 118 participants whose data were collected through video and phone interviews. The study's variable selection rationale included the following parameters concerning ensuring the availability of the internet, email access, and cameras among the selected participants and representing more than 30% Caucasian and 30% African American veterans. The other requirement was that the participants needed to be competent with VA Video Connect (VVC; Padala et al., 2020).

Adams et al. (2019) conducted an observational study like the Padala et al. (2020) research, with urban geographic locations as an independent variable and Clinical Video Telehealth (CVT) as a dependent variable. The results noted that CVT increased access to health care among urban veterans, with the research forecasting increased telehealth demand in the future. Similarly, Slightam et al. (2020) used a multivariate logistic regression study to identify patient characteristics associated with telemedicine preferences and examined qualitative themes. A baseline survey was sent to study participants using a tablet, and a follow-up survey was sent to the same participants 3 to 6 months later (Slightam et al., 2020). The study's dependent variables included wait times, with independent variables comprised of established telehealth systems in health care institutions and rural and urban locations. The results suggested that video-based care in

urban and rural centers improved patient outcomes among veterans supplied with telehealth tablets, reducing wait times in health care institutions and allowing them to have immediate access to medical treatments, which reduced the access barriers these veterans had experienced previously (Slightam et al., 2020). Pimentel et al. (2019) also conducted a study investigating geriatric telehealth's impact on rural veterans, indicating that the Geriatric Clinical Centers improved the relationship between geriatric caregivers and rural veterans. The study's independent variables were rural health care and the Geriatric Research Education and Clinical Centers.

Across these studies, there is consistent evidence that rural and urban access to care is positively influenced by telehealth. Nonetheless, there is a lack of research on telehealth infrastructure, capability, and willingness to participate in telehealth among the elderly and health care providers. There is substantial evidence that health care resources are limited in rural areas, and that access to services is problematic (MacQuest Consulting, 1999; Slightam et al., 2020). The delivery of health care services in rural areas differs from those in urban areas due to limited resources and decreased access to the internet and internet services (Slightam et al., 2020). However, despite the benefits that have been shown with telehealth, lack of broadband access continues to be a barrier, and solving the issue of limited broadband access should be a priority (Hirko et al., 2020).

#### West Virginia Information

West Virginia is 24,320 square miles and is bordered by Pennsylvania, Virginia, Ohio, Kentucky, and Maryland. It is the only state located entirely in the area known as Appalachia (West Virginia Health and Human Resource Bureau, 2018). According to the West Virginia Department of Transportation, only 30 of the 55 counties in the state have access to public transit systems, and only 33 counties have taxi services (West Virginia Health and Human Resource Bureau, 2018). According to the U.S. Census Bureau, West Virginia is the third most rural state in the nation, with 51.8% of its population living in rural areas and 34 of its 55 counties considered rural (West Virginia Health and Human Resource Bureau, 2018).

Rural patients often travel greater distances to receive health care services, but it is not just the physical distance that is a barrier; weather conditions, environmental barriers, challenging roads, lack of personal transportation, lack of public transportation, and costs associated with transportation also interfere with access. Barriers to health care access in West Virginia include low health literacy, societal acceptance, quality of care, self-reliance, religion, bias, and mistrust (Jensen, 2018; Newins et al., 2019).

## Wait Times for Primary Care Appointments

Peterson et al. (2014) the Institute of Medicine (IOM) Committee on the Quality of Health Care in America called for a redesign of the U.S. health care delivery system and appealed to all health care constituencies to commit to reducing delays as one of six specific aims for improvements. IOM reported that timeliness is an essential characteristic of any service and is a legitimate and valued focus of improvement in health care and other industries (Peterson et al., 2014). The VA health care system has collected data on wait times and has tried to decrease primary and specialty wait times for established patients by using advanced access and priority access strategies, telemedicine, colocation of primary care and mental health services, and other strategies (Peterson et al., 2014).

Wong et al. (2018) conducted an observational study examining 13,595 VHA patients who were also enrolled in fee-for-service Medicare. Data sources used in the study included the Survey of Healthcare Experience of Patients (SHEP), with data indicating how wait times for a VHA appointment with primary care providers were determined. The study used fractional logistic regression to examine the relationship between wait times and reliance on VHA services (Wong et al., 2018). The study results suggested that patients who reported longer than usual wait times for immediate VHA care exhibited lower future reliance on VHA primary care (Wong et al., 2018).

In contrast, Lampman et al. (2019) conducted a multiple-linear regression analysis to examine the relationships between patient perceptions of access and average actual patient wait times, telephone visits, and rural residence. The researchers examined whether self-reported access to primary care is associated with actual wait times and use of telephone visits and whether this relationship differs by rural residence (Lampman et al., 2019). The results showed that as the wait time for routine appointments increased, veterans served by clinics with a higher percentage of rural veterans perceived telephone visits more positively (Lampman et al., 2019). Access to primary care in rural communities and the shortage of primary care providers continued to be a challenge that created risks for worsening health care problems (Healthy People, 2020; Warshaw, 2017). The studies demonstrated that access to primary care continued to be an issue and was influenced by barriers that required further research.

#### **Hospitalizations and Telehealth Services for Veterans**

New technologies are revolutionizing health care, and the VHA is recognized as an advocate for telehealth development and use (Schulz-Heik et al., 2017). The VHA started telehealth services in 2003 and pioneered the testing and implementation of telehealth on a national scale, with several programs within VHA contributing to this effort (Myers et al., 2021). Ortholive (2019) conducted a study using electronic health records (EHR) that tracked telehealth initiatives at three comprehensive VA clinical facilities to determine the effects on revenue cycle and patient experiences. The study looked closely at the recorded metrics and found that telehealth services successfully reduced inpatient costs for patients with chronic diseases, reduced hospital admissions, and raised patient satisfaction scores by 85% (Ortholive, 2019).

Ryskina et al. (2021) used multivariable logistic regression to measure the frequency of being seen by telemedicine versus in-person services when barriers related to demographics and comorbidities existed. The results showed that 60.3% of patients accessed primary care via telemedicine and had lower ambulatory-sensitive hospitalization (Ryskina et al., 2021). In contrast with primary care, Peters et al. (2021) conducted a study to evaluate the effect of telehealth on the use of hospital services and compare the outcomes between telehealth types and health conditions. The meta-analysis study included 127 peer-reviewed randomized controlled trials. Results revealed high-quality evidence that telehealth reduces mean all-cause and condition-related hospitalizations, with 50 or fewer hospitalizations per 100 patients (Peters et al., 2021).

Across these studies, there is consistent evidence that hospitalization and access to primary care issues are influenced by telehealth usage.

Systematic review and meta-analysis performed by Peters et al. (2021) on the effect of telehealth interventions on hospital service showed evidence that telehealth reduces the risk of all-cause or condition-related hospitalization by 18 (95% Cl 0-30) and 37 (95% Cl 20-60) per 1,000 patients. Although telehealth showed a slight reduction in hospital services, Peters et al. suggested that there are uncertainties around the magnitude of effects, and not all effects are statistically significant.

## **COVID-19 and Telehealth Services for Veterans**

Myers et al. (2020) conducted a study during the COVID-19 pandemic and found that expanding telehealth services had become the most prominently employed access strategy across most health care systems. The VA is a leading provider of telehealth, and studies have also indicted that those disparities may exist in reaching older veterans living in rural areas (Padala et al., 2020). Baum et al. (2021) analyzed data from the VA Corporate Data Warehouse, which is a national repository of electronic health records. Data are gathered from visits to any VA facility, and the data are updated nightly for purposes of reliability and accuracy. The study population included a cohort of adults who visited any VA health care facility between 2008 and 2018 (Baum et al., 2021). The results revealed that decreases of in-person visits and increases in telehealth visits were observed in 92.8% of VA clinics.

Monaghesh and Hajizadeh (2020) conducted a systematic literature review on the role of telehealth during the COVID-19 outbreak. Inclusion criteria included telehealth

services for all aspects of health care during the COVID-19 pandemic. The study's conclusion showed that telehealth improved health services and was essential for keeping patients and health providers safer during the COVID-19 outbreak (Monaghesh & Hajizadeh, 2020).

Doraiswamy et al. (2020) systematically searched PubMed and Embase databases with specific inclusions of telehealth services and treatments. Out of 543 articles published across 331 different journals, 461 of the articles expressed positive sentiment about the use of telehealth. The conclusion suggested that telehealth may significantly improve health care in the future (Doraiswamy et al., 2020). More research surrounding telehealth in resource-limited settings and low-and middle-income areas needs to be established to promote its potential; along with a global consensus on the definition, boundaries, protocols, monitoring, evaluation, and data privacy that is needed to ensure the safe use of telemedicine services (Doraiswamy et al., 2020).

The COVID-19 pandemic and the accompanying social distance measures have hastened the implementation of telehealth programs in hospital systems around the globe (Connolly et al., 2021; Hirko et al., 2020). Telehealth initiatives are proving essential in efforts to mitigate the spread of COVID-19 among patients and providers and will continue to mitigate distance and access challenges in rural and remote settings long after the pandemic has abated (Hirko et al., 2020). Nevertheless, Hirko et al. (2020) suggest that to ensure telehealth remains a viable option following the pandemic, rural health systems must develop a strategy that includes lobbying for continued third-party reimbursement of telehealth services. COVID-19 led to rapidly expanding telehealth
infrastructure and a shift in mental health service delivery (Page et al., 2021). The known barriers faced by underserved populations are addressed with telehealth, Page et al. (2021) suggest other barriers, such as digital literacy, are exacerbated. Leveraging ongoing political momentum responding to the COVID-19 pandemic affords opportunities to improve digital connectivity and reduce the digital divide for diverse populations (Page et al., 2021).

Many lessons will inevitably be learned from the COVID-19 crisis by exposing underlying health disparities and fostering innovative solutions to address health needs in these trying times (Hirko et al., 2020; Page et al., 2020). Nevertheless, AAFP (2020) suggests that more research is needed to determine whether telehealth has produced any unintended consequences concerning the pandemic. Such research would ensure that telehealth does not accidentally increase the health disparities of those who live in rural areas (AAFP, 2020).

Der-Martirosian et al. (2021) used a parallel mixed method including simultaneous quantitative and qualitative approaches to compare services used at a VA Medical Center, Greater Los Angeles, across three clinics (primary care, cardiology, and home-based primary care [HBPC]) 12 months before and 12 months after the onset of COVID-19 in March 2020. The study showed that telehealth use was minimal at all three clinics, but at the start of COVID-19, telehealth use increased substantially at all three clinics (Der-Martirosian et al., 2021). Although the study showed an increase in telehealth, several barriers were noted. Multiple steps for videoconferencing, creation of new scheduling girds, limited access to the internet and facilitators (flexibility in using different video-capable platforms, technical support for patients, identification of staff telehealth champions, and development of workflows to help incorporate telehealth into treatment plans) (Dre-Martirosian et al., 2021). However, telehealth benefits during the COVID-19 pandemic and for the rural communities' technological issues must be addressed at the forefront of telehealth evolution to achieve access for all patient populations with different socioeconomic backgrounds, living situations and locations, and health conditions (Dre-Martirosian et al., 2021). The unprecedented expansion of telehealth during COVID-19 provides opportunities to create lasting telehealth solutions to improve access to care beyond the pandemic (Dre-Martirosia et al., 2021).

## **Literature Review Summary**

A thorough review of the literature focused on the variables of this study and the effects of telehealth services associated with Veterans in rural and urban West Virginia. Study results provided information about Veterans' access to care and whether the differences in telemedicine services have been a positive addition to health care programs and wait times for primary care appointments (Lampman et al., 2019; Myers et al., 2020; Schulz-Heik et al., 2017). Rural patients often travel greater distances to receive health care services, but it is not only the physical distance that is a barrier because there are also weather conditions, environmental barriers, challenging roads, lack of transportation, and costs associated with transportation (Jensen, 2018; Newins et al., 2019). A final overview of telehealth services concerns the studies written in 2020 and 2021 which conveyed an increasing acceptance of telehealth services due to the Covid-19 epidemic (Doraiswamy et al., 2020; Myers et al., 2020).

## Definitions

*Access to care:* Access to care involves achieving the necessary care in a timely manner for patient needs based on geographical location and available infrastructure, health literacy, and information (Mattocks et al., 2017). Access to health care consists of four components: Coverage, Services, Timeliness and Workforce (Healthy People 2020).

*Clinical Video Telehealth (CVT):* CVT involves the use of interactive videoconferencing and attached peripheral medical technologies to provide care and support care delivery between clinics and hospitals, and hospital to other hospitals. The patient site and provider site encounter are separated by location only (VSSC, 2021).

*Clinic Stop Code:* The clinic stop class identifies the type of service provided by an encounter (VHA Handbook, 2013).

*Encounter:* An encounter is a professional contact between a patient and a practitioner vested with responsibility for diagnosing, evaluating, and treating the patient's condition (VHA Handbook, 2013).

*Health Services Research and Development Services (HSR&D):* The VA HSR&D is an integral part of VA's quest for innovative solutions to today's health care challenges. HSR&D supports research that encompasses all aspects of VA health care, focusing on patient care, cost, and quality (Office of Research and Development, 2018).

*Rural:* VA uses the Rural-Urban Commuting Areas (RUCA) system to define rurality. Developed by the Department of Agriculture (USDA) and the Department of Human Services (HHS), the RUCA system considers population density and how closely a community is linked socio-economically to larger urban centers. RUCA is based on how the U.S. Census Bureau counts citizens (RHIhub, 2021).

Urban areas: Census tracts with at least 30 % of the population residing in an urbanized area defined by the Census Bureau.

Rural areas: Land areas not defined as urban or highly rural.

*Telehealth:* This term refers broadly to electronic, and telecommunications technologies and services used to provide care and services at-a-distance (AAFP, 2020).

*Telemedicine:* This type of program involves the practice of medicine using technology to deliver care from a distance. A physician located at one location uses a telecommunication infrastructure to deliver care to a patient at another site (AAFP, 2020).

*Urban:* The Census Bureau defines an urban area wherever it finds a nucleus of 50,000 or more people, the area must have a core with a population density of 1,000 persons per square mile and may contain adjoining territory with at least 500 persons per square mile (USDA, 2019).

*VA Informatics and Computing Infrastructure (VINCI):* A VA program which is an initiative to improve researchers' access to VA data and to facilitate the analysis of those data while ensuring Veterans' privacy and data security. VINCI is a partner with the Corporate Data Warehouse (CDW).

*Veterans' Health Administration (VHA):* The United States most extensive integrated health care system, the VHA (VA hospitals) delivers a variety of medical

service to veterans and their families who are enrolled in the VA health care system (O'Hanlon et al., 2017).

*VHA Support Service Center Capital Assets (VSSC):* A web-based project application and tracking database. The program is used for capital project application submission and capital project tracking for the VHA Minor, Clinical Specific Initiative (CSI) and Non-recurring Maintenance (NRM) Programs (AmeriGEO, n.d.).

*Wait times:* Based on actual times veterans have waited for appointments, based on completed appointments from the prior month. Measuring wait times from the date the appointment was requested until the date the appointment is completed is the most accurate measure for new Veterans because it is the actual average number of days Veterans have waited for an appointment (Access to care, 2020). Wait times are for new enrollees and return for appointments.

#### Assumptions

This research has three assumptions. The first assumption is that the secondary data collected from VINCI is a valid and reliable data source. Another assumption is that the data is accurate and ethically obtained. The third assumption is that I am categorizing urban and rural accurately.

#### **Scope and Delimitations**

The first delimitation of the study concerned the lack of primary data collection and the need to use secondary data which was obtained from the VHA Support Service Center Capital Assets (VSSC). The VSSC is a web-based project application and tracking database. This is used for capital project application submission and capital project tracking for the VHA Minor, Clinical Specific Initiative (CSI) and Non-recurring Maintenance (NRM) Programs (Data.Gov, 2019). Secondary data was also collected from accesstocare.va.gov which is a public site. Both the VSSC and the Accesstocare collected data through the Veterans Hospital Administration. The VSSC monitors the coding, workload, provides and veteran is using telehealth by specific telehealth clinic codes and encounters. The secondary data included veterans that are enrolled within the VHA in the cities of Beckley, Clarksburg, Huntington, and Martinsburg, West Virginia that used the telehealth modularity.

## Limitations

The sampling procedure decreased the generalizability of findings. This study did not capture all Veterans who used telehealth for their initial primary care appointment due to the Veterans who see non-VA providers. By using an objective measure of wait time, this study was not able to account for Veterans' preference or capture their perceptions of access.

## Significance

This research is significant because the information could support further research and health care administrators concerns related to expanding and sustaining telehealth services in rural communities. This research is also significant because it focuses on access to care for rural and urban Veterans who will benefit from timely treatment in the VA health system. The results may provide information about ways to reduce barriers to telehealth, like bandwidth for internet services. The results of this study could inform health care administrators about the importance of telehealth, along with availability and integration of data, when examining system reforms.

## **Summary and Conclusions**

This section reviewed literature related to the RQs about the associations, if any, between the type of appointment and patient residence on initial primary and telehealth primary care wait times. Telehealth services have the potential to reduce infectious exposures and the strain on health care systems, minimizing the increased patient demand placed on health care facilities (CDC, 2020). Studies have shown the benefits, but barriers still need to be overcome for telehealth to be sustained after the pandemic. This study examined whether telehealth relates to rural veterans' access to care. Section 2 provides the research design and methodology for the study.

### Section 2: Research Design and Data Collection

The purpose of this quantitative study was to explore the relationship between the type of appointment (telehealth or face to face) and patient location (urban vs. rural) on the initial primary care and initial telehealth primary care wait times. The population was veterans in West Virginia who lived in specific rural and urban areas. The independent variables were the appointment type and patient location, and the dependent variables were initial primary care and initial telehealth primary care wait time. This research could inform hospital administrators, policymakers, and other federal agencies about the need to address barriers to support the expansion and sustainment of telehealth. In this section, I explain the study's research design and rationale, the target population, sampling procedures, instrumentation and operationalization of constructs, power analysis used to calculate the sample size, data analysis plan, threats to validity, and ethical procedures.

#### **Research Design and Rationale**

I used a quantitative method using secondary data from VINCI, a HSR & D Resource Center. A quantitative method is the best method to statistically test numeric data because it focuses on numeric and unchanging data and detailed, convergent reasoning rather than divergent reasoning (i.e., the generation of a variety of ideas about a research problem in a spontaneous, accessible, flowing manner; Bhandari, 2022). The independent variable, type of appointment (telehealth or face to face), and patient location (urban vs. rural) were measured using the VINCI data. VINCI pulls the data from the Corporate Data Warehouse (CDW), where the VHA information is stored. VINCI gathers the data based on the CPT codes used for telehealth visits by location. In addition to VINCI data for location, the location is further defined by rural and urban, based on the RUCA system. The rural geographic locations were Clarksburg and Beckley. At the same time, Huntington and Martinsburg represent urban regions, as determined by the RUCA and the ORH (2021). The dependent variables were initial primary care wait time and telehealth primary care. The wait times can be viewed at https://accesstocare.va.gov, a public site that only gives information for the past month, whereas VINCI can pull information for the past 5 years.

The data include veterans seen as outpatients in the West Virginia cities of Beckley, Clarksburg, Huntington, and Martinsburg. Further criteria for inclusion required that the veterans have telehealth appointments in 2020. In 2019, the COVID epidemic emerged, which impacted telehealth and the data that were collected because COVID-19 resulted in a massive increase in telehealth utilization. Secondary data can save time, money, and resources, and sharing, compiling, and storage have become faster and easier (Tripathy, 2013).

#### Methodology

I used the independent-samples *t*-test and the Mann-Whitney *U* test to examine if there is a difference between the type of appointment (telehealth or face to face) and patient location (urban vs. rural) on the initial primary care and telehealth primary care wait times. An independent-samples *t*-test is used when a researcher wants to compare the mean score on some continuous variable for two different groups of participants (Pallant, 2020). The independent-samples *t*-test compares the values for continuous variables (initial primary care and initial telehealth primary care wait times) for two groups—patient location (urban vs. rural) and type of appointment (telehealth or face to face; Pallant, 2020).

I used the Descriptive Statistics—Explore and the Kolmogorov-Smirnov test to check the distribution for each group of the independent variables. The results indicated that the data were not normally distributed for the locations (i.e., urban and rural) and type of primary care appointment (F2F, telephone). For this reason, the Mann-Whitney Utest was used. Mann-Whitney U test is the nonparametric alternative often used instead of the independent-samples *t*-test when the data fail the assumption of the independentsamples *t*-test (Laerd Statistics, 2013).

## Population

The population for this research was veterans living in West Virginia in Beckley, Clarksburg, Huntington, and Martinsburg who had an outpatient visit in the year 2020. In 2020, the number of veterans who had an outpatient visit equaled 101,792, with 14,701 of those appointments being by telehealth. Based on the RUCA, Clarksburg's rurality is 88% and Beckley's is 69%, with Huntington being 51% and Martinsburg 49%. The VINCI dataset was categorized into appointment type (telehealth and face to face), patient location (urban vs. rural), and initial primary care and initial telehealth primary care wait times.

#### Sampling and Sampling Procedures Used to Collect Data

In this research, I analyzed existing secondary data from VINCI. I used VINCI because VINCI's mission is to improve veterans' health care by providing researchers access to integrated national datasets and tools for analysis in a secure, high performance

computing environment (VA Information Resource Center [VIRec], 2018). The VINCI data center is a secure, virtual computing environment that provides the resources and tools necessary to conduct studies and analyze data (VIRec, 2018). The VINCI works with the Office of Health Information (OHI), National Data Systems (NDS), Veterans Information Resource Center (VIRC), and the VHA Privacy Office to establish standardized procedures for authorizing the use of VHA data (HSR&D, 2018).

### VA Informatics and Computing Infrastructure Sampling

VINCI is transparent with its sampling process. VINCI partners with the VA CDW. The data are stored in a relational database (VINCI, 2022). Multiple VA data sources are being merged so that cohorts are defined by attributes such as ICD-9, ICD-19, and CPT codes from outpatient encounter within a target period—in this study, 2020 (VINCI, 2022). Data are kept current by refreshing on a nightly basis and are available beginning October 1, 1999 (VINCI, 2022). CDW is considered the best model data (VINCI, 2022). VINCI collected the data based on the CPT codes of the veterans who utilized telehealth during 2020 in West Virginia. Wait times were collected by primary care CPT codes and measured in days, from the date the appointment was requested until the date the appointment was completed.

## Sampling Plan

Sampling is a principle used to select members of the population to be included in a study. See Figure 2, which shows an example of sampling.

# Figure 2

Population, Sample, and Individual Cases Example

In statistics, sampling bias may cause some of the population to be less likely to be included than others, resulting in a biased or nonrandom sample (Business Research Methodology, n.d.). I used probability sampling, precisely simple random. Simple random sampling is considered the most unbiased population representation (Business Research Methodology, n.d.). The inclusion data were for the veterans in West Virginia who had an initial primary care appointment or initial telehealth primary care

The statistical procedure for RQ1 and RQ2 was the independent-samples *t*-test. GPower 3.0 priori power analysis was used to compute the sample size using the *t*-test family, the difference between two independent means (two groups), and the type of power analysis being the a priori: compute required sample size. Given the statistical power level (0.80) and significance level (0.05), the recommended size was 24 for RQ1 and 88 for RQ2. The independent variables for this study were the type of appointment



appointment. The exclusion data were for the nonveterans.

(telehealth and face to face). The dependent variable was patient location (urban vs.

rural). The results of the power analysis are shown in Table 3.

## Table 3

Sample Size Power Analysis (Independent-Sample t Test)

RQ	Effect	Statistical	Significance	Sample
	size	power level	level	size
1	1.9	0.80	0.05	24
2	0.6	0.80	0.05	88

### **Instrumentation and Operationalization of Constructs**

The data from veterans' health care facilities was obtained from VINCI at https://vinciccentral.vinci.med.va.gov, which partners with the CDW and hosts all data available through CDW. The data obtained from VINCI were based on the type of appointment (telehealth and face to face), patients' location (urban vs. rural) and initial primary care and telehealth primary care wait times.

In 2008, VA Research funded VINCI, and since then, thousands of research projects have depended on VINCI for success; maintaining a reliable, sustainable infrastructure is vital (VINCI, 2022). VINCI is a key resource to help researchers navigate VA's complex data environment. It plays a significant role in VA's Electronic Health Record Modernization (EHRM) effort to migrate its EHR to Cerner Millennium (VINCI, 2022). VINCI data sets have been used in previous studies around telehealth, virtual care, wait times, cancer, and suicide, to name a few.

## **Operationalization for Each Variable**

VINCI collects data based on each facility's workload entered into the VA system—drilling down by the encounters with any primary stop codes or a secondary stop code of telehealth and primary care in West Virginia—Beckley, Clarksburg, Huntington, and Martinsburg VAs—from 2016–2020. Telehealth codes that were used included 136,137, 179, 440, 444, 445, 446, 447, 490, 491, 644, 645, 648, 679, 690, 692, 693, 699, 708, 723, and 724.

- Type of appointment is a categorical variable that indicates that veterans had an initial primary care appointment either face to face or by the telehealth modality. The number of primary care visits are recorded in VistA and VSSC by the encounter and CPT codes.
- Patient location is a categorical variable with the classification of rural or urban. The geographic rurality was based on the ORH definitions and census of the locations in West Virginia. Geographic location is considered an independent variable and includes the locations of West Virginia cities Beckley, Clarksburg, Huntington, and Martinsburg. The two facilities considered rural are Clarksburg, with a percentage of 81%, and Beckley at 69%. Huntington and Martinsburg are primarily urban, with a rurality percentage of 49 to 51.

• Wait times is a dependent variable that considered access to care, was measured in days, and was broken down by type of appointment—telehealth and face to face.

The operational definitions summary of the variables for this study is depicted in Table 4.

# Table 4

## **Operational Definitions of Variables**

Name	Measurement	Values of variables
Type of appointment	Categorical	Telehealth (1)
		Face to face (2)
Patient location	Categorical	Rural/Urban (1/2)
D:		
Primary care wait times	Continuous—Scale	Number
Telebealth primary care	Continuous Scale	Number
wait time	Commuous—Scale	INUITIOU
wait time		

## Data Analysis Plan

The Statistical Package for the Social Sciences (SPSS) Version 27 data editor assessed the analysis and interpreted the overall outcome of the tables and charts produced due to the research. The aggregated data from VINCI are possible through a monitored, audited, and controlled data transfer environment. VINCI can allow data to be moved for decision support while preventing the removal of sensitive information (HSR&D, 2018). Collecting is complex, with issues on data collection surrounding threats to validity and bias during the process. The primary independent and dependent variables as the focus of this study were not adjusted. The VINCI data were analyzed and cleaned by the VINCI team and sent via VA Outlook email. The information was downloaded, inputted into Excel worksheets, and transferred to IBM SPSS Statistics Version 27.0 statistical software. All data were stored on an external hard drive on a government laptop. The data unrelated to my RQs were removed. The results were interpreted using an independent-sample *t*-test. The results were also interpreted using probability values. The RQs and their corresponding hypotheses were as follows:

- RQ1: Is there a significant difference in the initial primary care wait time (time between appointment schedule and appointment) between VA telehealth appointments and face-to-face appointments scheduled in 2020?
  - H<sub>0</sub>1: There is not a significant difference in the initial primary care wait time (time between appointment schedule and appointment)
    between VA telehealth appointments and face-to-face appointments scheduled in 2020.
  - *H*<sub>1</sub>1: There is a significant difference in the initial primary care wait time (time between appointment schedule and appointment)
    between VA telehealth appointments and face-to-face appointment scheduled in 2020.
- RQ2: Is there a significant difference in telehealth initial primary care wait time (time between appointment schedule and appointment) between urban patients and rural patients who had a telehealth visit with the VA in West Virginia in 2020?

- $H_02$ : There is not a significant difference in telehealth initial primary care wait time (time between appointment schedule and appointment) between urban patients and rural patients who had a telehealth visit with the VA in West Virginia in 2020.
- *H*<sub>1</sub>2: There is a significant difference in telehealth initial primary care wait time (time between appointment schedule and appointment) between urban patients and rural patients who had a telehealth visit with the VA in West Virginia in 2020.

## **Threats to Validity**

## **External Threats to Validity**

The data for this study were obtained from the VINCI databank. The data is primarily based on the number of telehealth and primary care visits by veterans in the West Virginia region. An external threat would have been the veterans who chose to use the private sector instead of VA health care. The private sector also uses telehealth modalities such as CVT, and those numbers were not included in this study. The process of transporting wait times and hospital admissions from the VINCI database to the SPSS editor may omit some potential variables that are a threat to validity.

#### **Internal Threats to Validity**

Any factor that leads to an incorrect conclusion and may affect a study outcome is considered a threat to internal validity (Trochim et al., 2016). The data that were obtained from VINCI were based on clinic codes, and if a provider used the wrong telehealth clinic code, this could have posed a validity threat to the data obtained by VINCI. The VINCI database has internal security that protects any internal threat to the validity related to data omissions. The VINCI data have standard data quality checks that conform to federal government directives and have no internal issues concerning reliability and validity (VIRec, 2018).

#### **Ethical Procedures**

There are ethical procedures to follow when conducting statistical research involving veterans. The data obtained through VINCI was de-identified, remained anonymous, and was not revealed to the researcher to minimize the risk of harm and protect anonymity. The process began when the researcher submitted a memo to VINCI stating the purpose of the study and what data would be needed. Once Walden University's Institutional Review Board and the VA's Research and Development Committee approved the study, a formal memo was sent to VINCI. Per the VHA Office of Research and Development regulatory affairs office, the study was determined to be an exempt human subject study. The next step was for the facility research and development to review the study, which also deemed it an exempt human study. VINCI provided this researcher with aggregated data needed to complete this study. Ethical considerations such as academic fraud and misrepresentation of data were minimized by following Walden University's research integrity policies.

#### Summary

Section 2 highlighted the study design and data collection methods used to examine the relationships between type of appointment (telehealth or F2F) and patient location (urban vs rural) on the initial primary care and telehealth primary care wait time. The research design and rationale were presented in detail to reflect the scope of this study. The quantitative methodology consisted of the designated method for collecting secondary data information on over 101,700 veterans in the VINCI databank. An analysis was performed to establish if the variables and covariate showed a statistically significant relationship. Section 3 provides information about the statistical analysis and results.

Section 3: Presentation of the Results and Findings

The primary purpose of this quantitative study was to explore the relationship between the type of appointment (telehealth or face to face) and patient location (urban vs. rural) on the initial primary care and initial telehealth primary care wait times using Donabedian's framework for structural quality measures, processes, and outcomes to achieve quality of care. I used the VINCI data set containing information on the dependent and independent variables to analyze the difference between the appointment type and patient location on the initial primary care and telehealth primary care wait times.

The independent variables for this study were the type of appointment (telehealth or face to face) and patient location (urban vs. rural). The dependent variables were the initial primary care wait time and telehealth primary care. Telehealth could be one strategy for increasing access to health care once barriers to telehealth are addressed, such as bandwidth and policies. Understanding the role of telehealth on primary care and location could help policymakers implement strategies to address telehealth barriers (i.e., bandwidth and policies). The following RQs and hypotheses guided this study:

- RQ1: Is there a significant difference in the initial primary care wait time (time between appointment schedule and appointment) between VA telehealth appointments and face-to-face appointments scheduled in 2020?
  - $H_01$ : There is not a significant difference in the initial primary care wait time (time between appointment schedule and appointment)

between VA telehealth appointments and face-to-face appointments scheduled in 2020.

- *H*<sub>1</sub>1: There is a significant difference in the initial primary care wait time (time between appointment schedule and appointment)
  between VA telehealth appointments and face-to-face appointments scheduled in 2020.
- RQ2: Is there a significant difference in telehealth initial primary care wait time (time between appointment schedule and appointment) between urban patients and rural patients who had a telehealth visit with the VA in West Virginia in 2020?
  - $H_02$ : There is not a significant difference in telehealth initial primary care wait time (time between appointment schedule and appointment) between urban patients and rural patients who had a telehealth visit with the VA in West Virginia in 2020.
  - *H*<sub>1</sub>2: There is a significant difference in telehealth initial primary care wait time (time between appointment schedule and appointment) between urban patients and rural patients who had a telehealth visit with the VA in West Virginia in 2020.

Section 3 of this study contains the statistical analyses conducted on the VINCI 2022 data set, namely the Mann-Whitney *U* and Kolmogorov-Smirnov test. In this section, I provide the data collection, present descriptive characteristics of the sample,

test for homogeneity of variance, offer study results for the RQs, and give a summary of the RQs.

#### **Data Collection of Secondary Data**

I collected the data for this study from the VSSC appointment products report, which is classified into three primary categories for reporting purposes: pending, completed, and no show/cancellations. The pending and completed datasets are available for new and established patient appointments. Wait times are calculated from appointment to create (made) date and patient indicated date (PID) for all pending and completed appointments. A completed appointment is an appointment with a null cancel no-show code, a checkout date time, and an appointment date/time less than the refresh date/time of the dataset (VSSC, n.d.). To avoid double counting appointments, only the patient side (or provider side only) of a telehealth appointment was included in the completed appointment dataset (VSSC, n.d.). No discrepancies were observed in the data except for missing values in relation to telehealth encounters using stops codes 179, 648, and 679. I also excluded other variables in the data not relevant to this study. The G \* Power analysis of sample size was 11,154, processing enough statistical power to identify small effects. The examination of the differences between small (n = 1,302) and medium (n=210) visits had 95% power to detect the effect of d = 0.5 with an alpha level of 0.05.

## **Descriptive Characteristics of Sample and Population**

The data consisted of 151,827 primary care visits, with 11,156 new patients seen in Beckley, Clarksburg, Huntington, and Martinsburg, West Virginia. The rural counties were Clarksburg and Beckley, while the urban counties were Huntington and Martinsburg. Out of the 11,154, 8,719 were seen face to face, and 2,435 were seen via telephone. The independent variables were the location—urban versus rural—and type of appointment—F2F and telehealth. There were over 50 types of visits in the data set, which was narrowed down into one category, primary care, and further into new primary care visits by F2F and telehealth. No data were shown for telehealth encounters with the stop codes 179, 648, or 679, but there were visits conducted via telephone with the stop code 338. The data reports the wait time from the patient-indicated date displayed by 0–7 days, 15–30 days, 31–60 days, 61–90 days, 91–120 days, and greater than 120 days, and the results in the average wait times. For this study, the average wait time scores per location were used. A test of normality assumption was conducted to select a suitable statistical analysis method for the data set. Table 5 shows the breakdown of the number of visits by type (F2F/telephone) and geographic location (rural/urban). There were more visits conducted in urban than in rural locations and more visits conducted F2F than by telephone.

## Table 5

Туре		Geographic location			
Face to face (F2F)	8,719	Urban—Huntington/Martinsburg	8,189		
Telephone	2,435	Rural—Beckley/Clarksburg	2,965		
Total	11,154	Total	11,154		

New Patient Visits in 2020

## **Test for Homogeneity of Variance**

An important assumption of the independent-samples *t*-test is that the two groups' variance are equal in the population. The Levene's test provided results on whether the

variance between the groups' average wait time and type of visit (F2F, telephone) were equal, as well as the average wait time and location (urban, rural). Table 6 shows that the assumption of homogeneity of variance was violated, as assessed by Levene's test for equality of variances (p = .000). Pallant (2020), IBM SPSS Statistics provides an alternative *t* value, which compensates for the fact that the variances are not the same, equal variances not assumed, which is also displayed in Table 6.

# Table 6

## Levene's Test for Equality of Variance

		Levene's test for				t test for equality of means					
					Significance				95% confidence		
		F	Sig.	Т	df	One-	Two-	Mean	Std.	Lower	Upper
						sided	sided	differ-	error		
						p	p	ence	differ-		
									ence		
Aver- age	Equal variances	1159.175	0.000	15.717	11152	0.000	0.000	2.4540	0.1561	2.1480	2.7601
wait	assumed										
times	Equal variances not			22.364	8107.679	0.000	0.000	2.4540	0.1097	2.2389	2.6691
	assumed	0.270.044	0.000	55 104	11154	0.000	0.000	7 2100	0.1200	( ) ( ) (	a 4854
Aver- age wait	Equal variances assumed	83/0.966	0.000	55.184	11154	0.000	0.000	7.2190	0.1308	6.9626	/.4/54
times	Equal variances			38.977	3329.014	0.000	0.000	7.2190	0.1852	6.8559	7.5822
	not										
	assumed										

An independent-samples *t* test was conducted to compare the average wait time scores for F2F and telephone visits. There were significant differences in scores for F2F and telephone, with *t* (8107) = 22.36, *p* = 0.000. The magnitude of the difference in the means (mean difference = 2.45, 95% CL [2.23, 2.66]) was small (eta squared = 0.04). There were significant differences in scores for urban and rural with *t* (3329) = 38.97, *p* = 0.000. The magnitude of the difference in the means (means difference = 7.21, 95% CL [6.85, 7.58]) was small, 0.003.

#### **Test of Normality Assumption**

When analyzing the differences between groups using the independent-samples t test, a common assumption is that the dependent variable is approximately normally distributed for each group of the independent variable (Laerd Statistics, 2013). There are two broad methods of assessing normality: numerical methods (e.g., statistical tests) or graphic methods (e.g., visual inspection of graphs). For this study, I chose to use the numerical methods using Descriptive Statistics-Explore and looked at the Kolmogorov-Smirnov test. Table 6 shows that the p values for the Kolmogorov-Smirnov test for all the variables are less than 0.05 level of significance (p = 0.000). This indicated that the data were not normally distributed for the locations (i.e., urban and rural) and for type of primary care appointment (F2F, telephone). The Mann-Whitney U test is often presented as the nonparametric alternative to the independent-samples *t*-test used when the data fail the assumptions of the independent-samples *t*-test (Laerd Statistics, 2013). Therefore, the Mann-Whitney U tests were used for location and type of visits. The normality test in Table 7 was not intended to establish an overall association between the variables but to justify using a nonparametric test for this study.

# Table 7

	Kolmogorov-Smirnov						
Average wait time	Location	Statistic	df	Р			
	Rural	.205	2965	.000			
	Urban	.178	8189	.000			
Average wait time	Visit type						
	F2F	.271	8719	.000			
	Telephone	.228	2435	.000			

Normality Test for Wait Times Between the Groups

# **Descriptive Statistics**

Data are mean  $\pm$  standard deviation, unless otherwise stated (Laerd Statistics, 2013). The results are shown in Table 6. There were 8,791 F2F visits and 2,435 telephone visits. Mean F2F average wait time scores (10.51  $\pm$ 7.44) were higher than telephone average wait time scores (8.06  $\pm$  3.71). Mean rural average wait time scores (15.28  $\pm$  9.79) were higher than urban average wait time scores (8.06  $\pm$  4.00). Table 8 displays the results of group statistics.

# Table 8

Group	<b>Statistics</b>
-------	-------------------

Location		N	Mean	Std. deviation	Std. error mean
Average wait time	Rural	2,965	15.283	9.7934	0.1799
	Urban	8,191	8.064	4.0034	0.0442
Visit type		Ν	Mean	Std. deviation	Std. error mean
Visit type Average wait time	F2F	N 8,719	Mean 10.519	Std. deviation 7.4498	Std. error mean 0.0798

## **Study Results for Research Questions and Variables**

This final part of Section 3 contains statistical assumptions and the results of the statistical analysis. The study findings relating to the RQs and hypotheses are elaborated on the concluding part of this section.

## **Statistical Assumptions**

The assumption of a nonparametric test was met using Mann-Whitney U analysis to examine the association between urban and rural locations and the average wait times, F2F and telephone visits, and the average wait times. The Mann-Whitney U test is used to test for differences between two independent groups on a continuous measure (Pallant (2020). The Mann-Whitney U test compares the medians and converts the scores on the continuous variable to rank across the two groups (Pallant, 2020). It then evaluates whether the ranks for the two groups differ significantly (Pallant, 2020). The distribution of the variables in this study was not normal regarding the population distribution; therefore, I considered the nonparametric test as appropriate to determine the statistical differences.

#### **Results of Statistical Analysis for Research Question 1**

I employed a Mann-Whitney U test to see if there was a significant difference in the initial primary care wait time between VA telehealth (used telephone, due to results did not yield telehealth encounters) appointments and F2F appointments scheduled in 2020 using SPSS with a 95% confidence level. As shown in Table 9, the independent variables (i.e., F2F and telephone) were statistically significant with the average wait times. The results, therefore, met the determination that a significant difference is evident in the association between average wait times and F2F and telephone visits (p < 0.05) and Mann-Whitney U test (U) = 11,138,369.50. The p value of .000 is less than the conventional threshold of .05; therefore, there is an association between F2F and telephone visits and the average wait times in West Virginia VA facilities.

# Table 9

Mann-Whitney U Test—Average Wait Times and Type of Visits (F2F and Telephone)

Variable	Ν	%	Mean rank	U	Р
F2F	8,719	78	10.519	11,138,369.50	.000
Telephone	2,435	22	8.065		
Total	11,154	100			

The independent sample, Mann-Whitney U test displays the sample size, the frequency of average wait times, and the mean ranks. Figure 3 shows the sample size of 8,719 for F2F and a mean rank of 5,517.52, while telephone had a sample size of 2,435

and a mean rank of 5,792.28. These results revealed that the average wait time was

greater with telephone visits than with F2F visits.

# Figure 3

Independent-Samples Mann Whitney U Test for Location



## **Summary Results of Research Question 1**

For RQ1, I attempted to determine if there was a significant difference in the initial primary care wait time (time between appointment schedule and appointment) between VA telehealth appointments and F2F appointments scheduled in 2020. The Mann-Whitney U test with a 95% confidence level showed that the independent variable of primary care visits was statistically significant in association with the average wait time in the VA health care system in West Virginia. The p value of .000 is statistically significant and was below the conventional threshold of .05. The results indicated a

statistically significant difference between types of visits (F2F, telephone) and the average wait time; therefore, the alternative hypothesis was met, and the null hypothesis was rejected. From the analysis, the conclusion was that the average wait time was-higher in telephone visits than in F2F visits.

## **Results of Statistical Analysis for Research Question 2**

I employed a Mann-Whitney U test to see if there was a significant difference in the initial primary care wait times between VA telehealth (used telephone, due to results did not yield telehealth encounters) appointments between urban and rural locations schedule in 2020 using SPSS with a 95% confidence level. As shown in Table 9, the independent variables (i.e., urban and rural) were statistically significant with the Average wait times. The results, therefore, met the determination that a significant difference was evident in the association between Average Wait times and the location urban and rural (p < 0.05) and Mann-Whitney U test (U) = 8,420,144.000. The *p* value of .000 is less than the conventional threshold of .05; therefore, there is an association between urban and rural location and the Average Wait times in West Virginia VA Facilities. From the analysis, the conclusion was that the average wait time was higher for <del>rural</del> patients than for urban patients.

# Table 10

Variable	N	%	Mean rank	U	Р
Rural	2,965	26	15.283	8,420,144.00	.000
Urban	8,191	74	8.064		
Total	11,156	100			

Mann-Whitney U Test—Average Wait Time and Location (Urban and Rural)

The independent sample, Mann-Whitney U test displays the sample size, the frequency of Average Wait Times, and the mean ranks. Figure 4 shows the sample size of 2,965 for rural and a mean rank of 6,834.15, while urban had a sample size of 8,191 and a mean rank of 5,123.98. These results revealed that the Average Wait Times was greater in the rural primary care visits than in urban primary care visits.

## Figure 4

Independent-Samples Mann-Whitney U Test for Location



#### **Summary Results of Research Question 2**

RQ2 attempted to determine if there was a significant difference in telehealth primary care wait times (time between appointment schedule and appointment) between urban patients and rural patients who had a telehealth visit with the VA in West Virginia in 2002. The Mann-Whitney U test with a 95% confidence level showed that the independent variable of Location (urban and rural) was statistically significant in association with the Average wait time in the VA health care system in West Virginia. The *p* value of .000 was statistically significant and was below the conventional threshold of .05. The results indicated a statistically significant difference between rural, urban and the average wait time; the alternative hypothesis was met, and the null hypothesis was rejected. From the analysis, the conclusion was that the average wait time was higher for rural patients than for urban patients.

#### **Summary of Research Questions Results and Hypotheses**

The results of RQ1, which attempted to show if there was a significant difference in the initial primary care wait time between VA telehealth appointments and F2F appointments schedule in 2020, showed that the p value =.000 was statistically significant and was below the conventional threshold of .05. The results also indicated a statistically significant difference between type of primary care visits (telehealth/telephone, F2F) and the average wait times; therefore, the alternative hypothesis was met, and the null hypothesis was rejected. The results of RQ2, attempted to show if there was a significant difference in telehealth initial primary care wait time between urban and rural patients who had a telehealth visit with the VA in West Virginia in 2020, showed that the p value =.000 was statistically significant and was below the conventional threshold of .05. The results also indicated a statistically significant difference between locations (rural and urban) and the average wait times; therefore, the alternative hypothesis was met, and the null hypothesis was rejected. The conclusion was that the average wait time was higher for rural patients than for urban patients.

# Summary

Section 3 displayed the results and the findings of this study detailing the data collection process, results of descriptive statistics, and Mann-Whitney U statistical method used to determine the association between type of primary care visits, location, and the average wait time in the VA Facilities in West Virginia. In section 4, I discuss the analysis of the RQs, findings in the literature, findings to theory, study limitations, recommendations, professional practice, and positive social change.

Section 4: Application to Professional Practice and Implication for Social Change

## Introduction

The purpose of this quantitative study was to explore the relationship between the type of appointment (telehealth or F2F) and patient location (urban vs. rural) on initial primary care and initial telehealth primary care wait times. Donabedian's theory was the theoretical framework for this study. Donabedian's theory is often used to examine health care services and provides a conceptual framework for evaluating health care quality (Healthcare Market Review, 2019). I employed a quantitative method using the independent-sample *t*-test and Mann-Whitney *U* test to analyze the variables. RQ1 showed a statistically significant relationship between initial primary care appointments (telehealth/telephone and F2F).

Furthermore, RQ2 showed a significant relationship between initial primary care and location (urban vs. rural). The findings reaffirmed that the wait times for primary care visits are predicated on the location and type of appointment. The results are significant because the information could support further research and health care administrators' concerns about expanding and sustaining telehealth services in rural communities.

In Section 4, I provide the interpretation of the findings, limitations of the study, and recommendations for future research. The concluding part of this section contains a discussion of the study's relevance concerning the implications for professional practice and social change.

#### **Interpretation of the Findings**

### **Research Question 1 Analysis**

The study findings showed a significant association between the type of appointment (telehealth/telephone and F2F) with a p = 000, which is less than the conventional threshold of 0.05. The F2F initial primary care visits were higher than telehealth conducted via telephone visits, and the average wait time was lower in the F2F visits than in those conducted via telehealth/telephone; therefore, the null hypothesis was rejected.

The data set analyses show a significant association between the type of initial primary care visits (telehealth/telephone vs. F2F). Although no previous studies indicated an association between the type of visit for initial primary care within the VHA facilities in West Virginia, other studies have shown a significant association between telehealth and access to care. The majority of studies on telehealth, much like those conducted by Pimentel et al. (2020) and Der-Martirosia et al. (2022), have seemed to yield an increase in telehealth visits during the COVID-19 pandemic and an increase in access to care. This study aligns with the rise in telehealth visits in 2020 but shows that F2F visits had a shorter wait time than those conducted via telephone.

#### **Research Question 2 Analysis**

The findings indicated a significant association between the initial primary care visits and location (urban vs. rural), with p = 000, which is less than the conventional threshold of 0.05. The wait times were higher for rural patients than for urban patients. The results indicate a statistically significant difference between wait times and location

(urban and rural); therefore, the null hypothesis was rejected. This study aligns with other studies that show that access to care wait times are higher in rural communities than in urban ones. According to Cheney (2022), average physician appointment wait times are higher in rural areas. According to AMN Merritt Hawkins (2022), the average wait time to see a family medicine physician ranged from a high of 44 days in Portland, Oregon to a low of 8 days in Washington, DC. At 45.6 days, Portland, Oregon had the highest average new patient physician appointment wait time across all five specialties of the 15 large metro markets surveyed (AMN Merritt Hawkins, 2022). As Jaret (2020) reported, of the more than 7,200 federally designated health professional shortage areas, 3 out of 5 are in rural regions. And while 20% of the U.S. population lives in rural communities, only 11% of physicians practice in such areas (Jaret, 2020).

### **Findings to the Literature**

The findings of this study reaffirmed the need for hospital administrators and the government to adopt innovative ideas to transform the delivery of rural health and human services. The rate showed a significantly higher wait time for those living in rural communities than those living in urban communities (Lampman et al., 2019; Struminger & Arora, 2019). What contradicts general studies is that the wait time for telehealth (telephone) was higher than for those with a F2F new patient appointment (Demeke et al., 2020; Lum et al., 2020). From June 26–November 6, 2020, 30.2% of weekly health center visits occurred via telehealth. Telehealth visits declined as the number of new COVID-19 cases decreased but plateaued as the number of cases increased (Demeke et al., 2021; Kirubanandan, 2023). The findings of this study are consistent with other
studies showing lower telehealth visits in rural communities than in urban communities. Health centers in the South and rural areas consistently reported the lowest average percentage of weekly telehealth visits (Adams et al., 2019; Cauwels, 2022). Developing partners from the government, community resources, health care administrators, and other stakeholders could assist with transforming health care delivery to rural communities by looking at the policies, processes, technology, and challenges faced by rural communities and designing policies or programs to improve health care access.

# **Findings to Theory**

Various researchers have explored telehealth and access to care. However, limited studies on initial rural primary care appointments using telehealth exist. Generally, the studies are around chronic conditions such as cardiovascular, respiratory, or mental conditions. This study was based on the Donabedian structure, process, and outcome model to improve the quality of care. Health care quality is based on different aspects of the three categories in the Donabedian model and their relationships. According to LoPorto (2020), applying the Donabedian model concept, the established structure is a prerequisite to effective process, and effective processes are a prerequisite for high-quality outcomes.

Improving the quality of care in rural communities is critical to realizing cost savings associated with increased emergency room use and hospitalization due to the lack of preventable care and access to care (RHIhub, 2022). The structure variables (i.e., rural, urban, primary care facilities) employed to determine the results of this study may be used to yield processes for improvement leading to the attainment of quality of care. The analysis of this study suggested that the wait times for primary care in rural communities are higher than for urban communities, and the use of telehealth was limited but did not decrease the wait times for those using telehealth, which provides information for health care administrators to expand the research on barriers to rural access to health care. Telehealth may not be the only answer to increase access; more research is needed looking at other avenues as well, such as home-based primary care, where a team that includes a provider, nurse, social worker, and pharmacist visit the patient in their home.

#### **Limitations of the Study**

The data set on initial new primary care visits via telehealth or F2F was assessed after the study began. Once the data set was downloaded, it became evident that the variables were not normally distributed, and the assumption for the parametric test was not met; hence, I used a nonparametric test for this study instead. Another limitation was that the data were aggregated and did not reveal demographic information, such as age and gender. By including demographic information, a researcher could gain insight into who was impacted the most by telehealth.

Another limitation, per Heyworth et al. (2020), is that while VA was an early adopter of telehealth and was the nation's first health system to employ a chief telehealth officer in 1999, the vast majority of VA outpatient care continued to be F2F visits through February 2020. Due to the VA doing more F2F visits, the coding of the telehealth visits was not widely utilized before the COVID-19 pandemic. The primary care visit might have started as a video call, lost connectivity, and was finished via telephone. Such a visit was captured as a telephone visit instead of a video visit.

#### Recommendations

The limitations addressed the need for future studies that would include demographics. By 2060, the U.S. population will reach 94.7 million, and older adults will make up nearly 25% of the U.S. population (CDC, 2020). I recommend that future studies investigate the relationship between age groups whose members utilize telehealth to establish barriers, if any, specifically in primary care. Identifying these barriers can assist health care administrators in developing telehealth services or other services that meet the older population's needs. As I conducted the literature review for this study, the results yielded more studies on telehealth and specialties, such as mental health, than primary care. Healthy People 2023 (2020) stated that primary care is critical for improving population health and reducing health disparities. I recommend further studies within the rural community with primary care to address barriers and possible solutions to increase primary care access.

Another limitation was the period in 2020 when COVID reached West Virginia, which did not allow for the complete capture of telehealth visits. According to previous research, telehealth could reduce costs and improve access to care, especially for underserved populations and residents of rural areas (Cauwels, 2022; CDC, 2022). I recommend future studies with complete data sets, including data from all forms of telehealth (i.e., store forward, Video Connect, Clinical Video, telephone), and both private sector as well as VA health care for comparison to examine if private sectors have lower initial primary care wait times in rural areas with the use of telehealth. The study results could form a collaboration between the VA and private sectors that may lead to increased access to primary care in rural communities. I recommend further research on telehealth post-COVID to see if telehealth continues to have an impact, if any, on health care access and cost.

# **Implications for Professional Practice and Social Change**

Access to care is a continued concern within the United States, especially in rural communities. Access to primary care is associated with positive health outcomes (Healthy People 2030, n.d.; Slightam et al., 2020). Primary care providers offer a usual source of care, early detection and treatment of disease, chronic disease management, and preventative care (Healthy People 2030, n.d.). Barriers such as limited primary care physicians, provider hours, and geographic location decrease access to care. Enlund (2019) stated that improved access can increase the use of health care services and would be more appropriate and less costly. Collaboration between health care administrators, providers, and the government is needed to improve quality of care delivery and to increase access to care.

## **Professional Practice**

There is longstanding evidence that high-quality primary care improves health, but within the United States, primary health care is a problem (Enlund, 2019; Thomson et al., 2022). Some reasons include barriers to accessing care and a lack of timely and quality care. Understanding the barriers to primary care within rural communities among the older population and using telehealth is critical to health care administrators in determining the best strategies to increase access to care.

### **Positive Social Change**

In this study, I found an association between the wait times for rural communities versus urban communities and the use of telehealth versus F2F. Therefore, my recommendation for professional practice would be to continue investigating the difference in telehealth in rural communities concerning primary care. Health care leaders and policymakers should consider strategies to boost the cellular signal and cellular and broadband expansion so that everyone can receive care from home, increasing access to care. Increasing access to primary care can lead to positive social change in health care by supporting the triple aim of health care of providing better-quality care, decreasing health care costs, and improving patient experiences (Nelson, 2022).

#### Conclusion

This study revealed a statistically significant association between initial primary care visits via telehealth/telephone versus F2F and within the rural and urban communities. The study did have limitations, such as the initial primary care visits being coded via phone, and there were none coded with video-telehealth. This study was aligned with other studies regarding wait times for primary care in rural areas being higher than in urban communities. This study differs from other studies concerning increased access to care using telehealth, as the results showed longer wait times for the rural community using telehealth compared to those who had a F2F visit. The current study may serve as a guide for health care administrators to understand the barriers to health care that still exist within rural communities leading to more technology infrastructure to support virtual care. Health care is taking a past approach by bringing

care into homes. During the COVID-19 pandemic, technology such as telehealth has been increasing this model of care. Health care administrators and future researchers on telehealth and barriers may yield results showing that telehealth alone is not the only strategy to increase access and find other models of home care that will work with telehealth, allowing more effective access to improve health care.

## References

Access to Care. (2019). *Patient experience compare data*. U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs.

https://www.accesstocare.va.gov/Healthcare/PatientExperienceCompareData

Adams, S. V., Mader, M. J., Bollinger, M. J., Wong, E. S., Hudson, T. J., & Littman, A. J. (2019). Utilization of interactive clinical video telemedicine by rural and urban veterans in the Veterans Health Administration health care system. *Journal of Rural Health*, 35(3), 308–318. https://doi.org/10.1111/jrh.12343

- Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality. (2015). *Types of health care quality measures*. <u>https://www.ahrq.gov/talkingquality/measures/types.html</u>
- American Academy of Family Physicians. (2020). What's the difference between telemedicine and telehealth? <u>https://www.aafp.org/news/media-</u> center/kits/telemedicine-and-telehealth.html
- American Hospital Association (2016). *Telehealth: Helping hospitals deliver costeffective care.*

https://www.aha.org/system/files/content/16/16telehealthissuebrief.pdf

AMN Healthcare Merritt Hawkins (2022). Survey of physician appointment wait times and Medicare and Medicaid acceptance rates.

https://www.merritthawkins.com/uploadedFiles/MerrittHawkins/Content?news\_a

nd\_Insights/Articles/mha-2022-wait-tiem-survey.pdf

- Avanian, J. Z., & Markel, H. (2016). Donabedian's lasting framework for health care quality. *The New England Journal of Medicine*, 375(3), 205–207. <u>https://doi.org/10/1056/NEJMp165101</u>
- Baum, A., Kaboli. P., & Schwartz, M. (2020). Reduced in-person and increased telehealth outpatient visits during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Annals of Internal Medicine*, 174(1), 129–131. <u>https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/3277680</u>
- Bhandari, P. (2022). *What is quantitative research? Definition, uses and methods*. https://www.scribbr.com/methodology/quantitative-research
- Binder, C., Torres, R. E., & Elwell, D. (2021). Use of the Donabedian model as a framework for COVID-19 response at a hospital in suburban Westchester County, New York: A facility-level case report. *Journal of Emergency Nursing*, 47(2), 239–255. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/J.jen.2020.10.008</u>
- Blandford, A., Wesson, J., Amalberti, R., Alhazme, R., & Allwihan, R. (2020).
  Opportunities and challenges for telehealth within, and beyond, a pandemic. *The Lancet Global Health*, 8(11), E1364–E1365. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S2214-109X(20)30362-4</u>
- Bowser, L. N., & Washington, D. L. (2020, March 10). Access to care among rural veterans. U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs, Office of Health Equity. <u>https://www.va.gov/HealthEquity/Rural\_Veterans\_Access\_to\_Care.asp</u>
- Business Research Methodology. (n.d.). *Sampling*. <u>https://research-</u> methodology.net/sampling-in-primary-data-collection

- Byrne, B. M. (2010). Structural equation modeling with AMOS: Basic concepts, applications, and programming. Routledge.
- Bzovsky, S., Philips, M., Guymer, R., Wykoff, C., Thabane, L., Bhandari, M., & Chaudhary, V. (2022). The clinician's guide to interpreting a regression analysis. *Eye*, 36, 1715–1717. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41433-022-01949-z</u>
- Calculator.net. (2008–2021). Sample size calculator. <u>https://www.calculator.net/sample-size-</u>

calculator.html?type=2&cl2=95&ss2=48678&pc2=32&ps2=151722&x=32&y=1 2#findci

Cauwels, J. (2022, February 2). The virtual future of health care delivery in rural America. *NEJM Catalyst*.

https://catalyst.mejm.org/doi/full/10.1056/CAT.21.0422

Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2019). Using telehealth services.

https://www.cdc.gov/coronavirus/2019-ncov/hcp/telehealth.html#

Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2020). Trends in the use of telehealth during the emergence of the COVID-19 pandemic—United States, January– March 2020. *Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report*, 69(43), 1595–1599. <u>https://doi.org/10.15585/mmwr.mm6943a3</u>

Chandrashekar, P., Moodley, S., & Jain, S. (2019, October 17). 5 obstacles to homebased-health care, and how to overcome them. *Harvard Business Review*. <u>https://hbr.org/2019/10/5-obstacles-to-home-based-health-care-and-how-toovercome-them</u> Chang, H. (2015). Evaluation framework for telemedicine using the logical framework approach and a fishbone diagram. *Healthcare Informatics Research*, 21(4), 230-238. <u>https://doi.org/10.4258/hir.2015.21.4.230</u>

Chanussot-Deprez, C., & Ruiz, J. (2013). Telemedicine in wound care: a review. *National Library of Medicine*. <u>https://pubmed-ncbi-nlm-nih-</u> <u>gov.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/23337648/</u>

- Chen, L., Cheng, L., Gao, W., Chen, D., Wang, C., & Ran, X. (2020). Telemedicine in chronic wound management: Systematic review and meta-analysis. *Journal of Medical Internet Research*, 22(6). N-PAG.
- Cheney, C. (2022). Physician appointment wait times have increased significantly, survey find. <u>https://www.healthleadersmedia.com/clinical-care/physician-appointment-</u> <u>wait-time-have-increased-significantly-survey-finds</u>
- Clawar, M., Randolph, R., Thompson, K., & Pink, G. (2018). Access to care: Populations in counties with No FQHC, RHC, or acute care hospital. *NC Rural Health Research Program*. <u>https://www.shepscenter.unc.edu/wp-</u> content/uploads/dlm\_uploads/2018/01/AccesstoPrimaryCare.pdf
- CMS. (2019). Measures Management System. <u>https://www.cms.gov/Medicare/Quality-</u> <u>Initiatives-Patient-Assessment-Instrumetns/MMS/Downloas/Access-Measure.pdf</u>

Connolly, S., Stolzmann, K., Heyworth, L., Sullivan, J., Shimada, S., Weaver, K., Lindsay, J., Bauer, M., & Miller, C. (2021). Patient and provider predictors of telemental health use prior to and during the COVID-19 pandemic within the department of veteran's affairs. American Psychologist.

https://doi.org/10.1037/amp0000895

- Council on Graduate Medical Education. (2020). Rural health disparities. <u>https://www.hrsa.gov/sites/default/files/hrsa/advisory-committees/graudat-</u> <u>medical-edu/publications/cogme-rural-health-policy-brief.pdf</u>
- Coughlin, S., Clary, C., Johnson, A., Berman, A., Heboyan, V., Benevides, T., Moore, J., & George, V. (2019). Continuing challenges in rural health in the United States. *Journal of Environment and Health Science*. <u>https://doi.org/10.15436/2378-6841.19.26</u>
- Cullen, W. K., West, D., & Grant, S. W. (2018). Evaluating quality in clinical care. Surgery (Oxford), 36(9), 497–502. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mpsur.2018.07.002</u>
- Data.Gov. (2020). VHA Support Service Center Capital Assets (VSSC). <u>https://catalog.data.gov/dataset/vha-support-service-center-capital-assets-vssc</u>
- Demeke, H., Merali, S., Marks, S., & Zilversmit, L., et al. (2021). Trends in Use of Telehealth Among Health Centers During the COVID-19 Pandemic – United States, June 26-November 6,2020. Centers for disease control and prevention. https://www.cdc.gov/mmwr/volumes/70/wr/mm7007a3.htm
- Donabedian, A. (1966). Evaluating the quality of medical care. *The Milbank Memorial Fund Quarterly*, 44(3), 166-206. <u>https://doi.org/10.230/3348969</u>
- Doraiswamy, S., Abraham, A., Mamtani, R., & Cheema, S. (2020). Use of telehealth during the COVID-19 pandemic: Scoping Review. J Med Internet Res. <u>https://jmir.org/2020/12/e24087/doi:10.2196/24087</u>

Draper, D.A. (2015). Action needed to improve access policies and wait-time data. *GAO Reports*, 1-12.

Der-Martirosian, C., Wyte-Lake, T., Balut, M., Chu, K., Heyworth, L., Leung, L.,
Ziaeian, B., Tubbesing, S., Mullur, R., & Doballian, A. (2021). Implementation of
telehealth services at the US Department of Veterans Affairs during the COVID19 pandemic: Mixed methods study. *JMIR Publications*.
https://doi.org/10.2196/29429

- DVA. (2017). Department of Veterans Affairs FY 2018-2024 strategic plan. https://www.va.gov/oei/docs/va2018-2024strategicplan.pdf
- Ekston Library (2021). Critical thinking and academic research: Assumptions. <u>https://library.louisville.edu/ekstrom/criticalthinking/assumptions</u>
- Enlund, S. (2019). Increasing access to health care through telehealth. *NCSL* National Conference of State Legislatures. <u>https://www.ncsl.org/reserach/health/increaing-access-to-health-care-through-telehealth.aspx</u>
- Flowers, K. (2021). What is rural? College of Medicine. Med.fsu.edu. Retrieved 25 July from <a href="https://med.fsu.edu/marianna/what-rural">https://med.fsu.edu/marianna/what-rural</a>
- Fox, R. (2020). Access to care roundtable: Experts identify improvement opportunities. *Vantage Point, 31.*

Gajarawala, S. & Pelkowski, J. (2020). Telehealth benefits and barriers. https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1555415520305158

- Gately, M.E., Trudeau, S.A., & Moo, L.R. (2020). Feasibility of telehealth-delivered home safety evaluations for caregivers of clients with dementia. *OTJR: Occupation, Participation & Health, 40* (1), 42.
- Gelburd, R. (2020). The coronavirus pandemic and the transformation of telehealth. U.S. News. <u>https://www.usnews.com/news/healthiest-communities/articles/2020-06-02/covid-19-and-the-transformation-of-telehealth</u>
- Gordon, S. H., Beilstein-Wedel, E., Rosen, A., Zheng, T., Kelley, A., Cook, J., Zahakos, S., Wagner, T., & Vanneman, M. (2021). County-level predictors of growth in community-based primary care use among veterans. *Med Care*. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/MLF.00000000001555</u>
- Government Accountability Office. (2018). Key Issues: Managing Risks and Improving VA Health Care.

https://www.gao.gov/key\_issues/managing\_risks\_improving\_va\_health\_care/issu e\_summary\_

- Guetterman, T.C. (2019). Basics of statistics for primary care research. *Family medicine* and Community Health, 7(2),e000067. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/fmch-2018-00067</u>
- Gupta, A. (2017). Real time wound segmentation/management using image processing on handheld devices. *Journal of Computational Methods in Sciences & Engineering*, 17(2), 321-329. <u>https://doi.org/10.3233/JCM-170706</u>
- Gurewich, D., Shwartz, M., Beilstein-Wedel, E., Davila, H., & Rosen, A. (2021). Did access to care improve since passage of the veteran choice act? Differences between rural and urban veterans. *Med Care*.

https://doi.org/10.1097/MLF.0000000001490 . Erratum in: Med Care. 2021

Aug1; 59(8):757 PMID:33976076, PMCID:PMC8132901.

Hair, J., Black, W. C., Babin, B. J., & Anderson, R. E. (2010) *Multivariate data analysis* (7th ed.). Upper Saddle River, New Jersey: Pearson Educational International.

Healthcare Market Review (2019). The Donabedian model.

https://healthcaremarketreview.com/tag/the-donabedian-model

Healthy People, 2030 (n.d.). Access to primary care.

https://health.gov/healthypeopl/priority-areas/social-detrminants-health/literaturesummaries/access-primary-care

Healthy People (2020). Access to health services. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Office of Disease Prevention and Health Promotion. <u>https://www.healthypeople.gov/2020/topics-objectives/topic/Acces-to-Health-Servics</u>

Health Services Research and Development (2018). https://www.hsrd.research.va.gov

Health Service Research and Development (2020).

https://www.hsrd.research.va.gov/news/feature/telehealth-0720.cfm

Heyworth, L. (2020). Expanding access through virtual care: The VA's early experience with Covid-19. <u>https://catalyst.nejm.org/doi/full/10.1056/CAT.20.0327</u>

Hinton, R. (2019). West Virginia broadband enhancement council. https://broadband.wv.gov/wp-content/uploads/2020-2025.pdf

Hirko, K., Kerver, J., Ford, S., Szafranski, C., Beckett, J., Kitchen, C., & Wendling, A. (2020). Telehealth in response to the COVID-19 pandemic: Implications for rural

health disparities. Journal of the American Medical Informatics Association, 27,

11, November 2020, Pages 1816-1818. https://doi.org/10.1093/jamia/0caa156

 Hoffman, G., &Yakusheva, O. (2020). Association between financial incentives in Medicare's hospital readmissions reduction program and hospital readmission performance. JAMA Netw Open.

https://doi.org/10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2020.2044

Institute of Medicine (1993). Committee on monitoring access to personal health care services. Access to health care in America. Washington, DC: National Academy Press. <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK235882</u>

Insurify, (2022). These are the states with the oldest population.

https://www.insurify.com/insights/states-with-oldest-population-2020

- Jaret, P. (2020). Attracting the next generation of physicians to rural medicine. *AAMC*. <u>https://www.aamc.org/news-insights/attracting-next-generation-physicians-rural-medicine</u>
- Jensen, M. (2018). Recognizing barriers to rural health care. <u>https://wvha.org/wp-</u> content/uploads/2018/10/SESSION-N.pdf
- Kaboli, P., & Filn, S. (2019). Waiting for care in veterans' affairs health care facilities and elsewhere. <u>https://www.researchgate.net/publications/330490534.Waiting-</u> for-Care-in-Veterans-Affairs-Health-Care-Facilities-and-Elsewhere.
- Kadam, P., & Bhalerao, S. (2010). Sample size calculation. International Journal of Ayurveda Research. <u>https://doi.org/10.4103/0974-7788.59946</u>

Kakulla, B. (2020). Older adults keep pace on tech usage. *AARP Research*. https://www.arg.org/research/topics/technology-trends-older-americans.html

Kenndey-Rea, S., Mason, J., Hereford, C., & Whanger, S. (2021). Engaging community perceptions of research in rural West Virginia.

https://collaborations.miami.edu/articles/10.33596/coll.80

- Kiernan, D. (2014). Natural Resources Biometrics. Natural Resources Biometrics Open Textbook (geneseo.edu)
- Kime, P. (2019). 5 Years after nationwide scandal, VA still struggles to track wait times. <u>https://www.military.com/daily-news/2019/07/26/5-year-after-nationwide-</u> <u>scandal-va-struggles-to-track-wait-times</u>
- Kirubanandan, S. (2023). Decline of telehealth during the pandemic and after. <u>https://medcitynews.com/2023/02/decline-of-telehealth-during-the-pandemic-and-after</u>
- Kline, R. B. (2011). *Principles and practice of structural equation modeling*. 3rd edition. New York: The Guilford Press.

Laerd Statistics (2013). https://statistics.laerd.com/premium/index.php

- Lahr, M., Henning-Smith, C., Rahman, A., & Hernandez, A. (2021). Barriers to health care access for rural Medicare beneficiaries: Recommendations from rural health clinics. <u>https://rhrc.umn.edu/wp-content/uploads/2021/09/UMN-RHC-Access-to-</u> Care-PB 1.20 508.pdf
- Lampman, M., Stockdale, S., Kaboli, P., Jaske, E., Wood, G., Clinton, W., & Stewart, G. (2019). The effects of telephone visits and rurality on veterans' perceptions of

access to primary care. J Am Board Fam Med.

https://doi.org/10.3122/jabfm.2019.05.190047

Leung, L., Rubenstein, L., Yoon, J., & Post, E. (2019). Veterans health administration investment in primary care and mental health integration improved care access. *Health Affairs Volume 38*.

https://www.healthaffairs.org/doi/10.1377/hlthaff.2019.00270

- Levy, C. E., Spooner, H., Lee, J.B., Sonke, J., Myers, K. & Snow, E. (2018). Telehealthbased creative arts therapy: Transforming mental health and rehabilitation care for rural veterans. *The Arts in Psychotherapy*, 57, 20-26.
- LoPorto, J. (2020). Application of the Donabedian Quality-of-Care Model to New York State direct support professional core competencies: How structure, process, and outcomes impact disability services. *Journal of Social Change*. <u>https://orcid.org/000-0002-3068-3418</u>
- Lum, H., Nearing, K., Pimentel, C., Levy, C., & Hung, W. (2019). Anywhere to anywhere: Use of telehealth to increase health care access for older, rural veterans. <u>https://www.academic.oup.com/ppar/article/30/1/12/5673184</u>
- Macquest Consulting. (1999). West Virginia State Health Plan- West Virginia Health Care.

https://hca.wv.gov/policyandplanning/Documents/Background%20Material/shpQt yPiper.pdf Massarweh, N. N., Itani, K.M.F., & Morris, M.S. (2020). The VA Mission Act and the future of veterans' access to quality health care. JAMA, The Journal of the American Medical Association, 4,343.

Mattocks, K. M., Mengeling, M., Sadler, A., Baldor, R., & Bastian, L. (2017). The Veterans Choice Act: A qualitative examination of rapid policy implementation in the Department of Veterans Affairs. Medical Care, 55, S71-S75. https://doi.org/10.1097/MLR.000000000667

- McElroy, J., Day, T., & Becevic, M. (2020). The Influence of telehealth for better health across communities. *CDC. Volume 17*. https://www.cdc.gov/pcd/issues/2020/20\_0254.html
- Monaghesh, E. & Hajizadeh, A. (2020). The role of telehealth during COVID-19 outbreak: a systematic review based on current evidence. *BMC Public Health* 20, 1193(2020). <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-020-09301-4</u>

Moore, L. Lavoire A., Bourgeois G, & Lapointe J. (2015) Donabedian's structureprocess-outcome quality of care model: Validation in an integrated trauma system. J. Trauma Acute Care Surg. 2015 Jun; 78 (6): 168-75. https://doi.org/10.1097/TA.0000000000663

- Morilla, R., Sans, M., & Casasa, A. (2017). Implementing technology in healthcare: Insights from physicians. *BMC Med Inform Decis Mak*, 17, 92. <u>https://doi.org.10.1186/s12911-017-0489-2</u>
- Muus, K., Knudson, A., Klug, M., Gokun, J., Sarrazin, M., & Kaboli, P. (2010). Effect of post-discharge follow-up care on re-admission among US veterans with

congestive heart failure: a rural-urban comparison.

https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/20536269

- Myers, U., Birks, A., Grubaugh, A., & Axon, R. (2020). Flattening the curve by getting ahead of it: How the VA healthcare system is leveraging telehealth to provide continued access to care for rural veterans. *The Journal of Rural Health*. https://onlinelibrar.wiley.com/doi/pdfdirect/10.111/jrh.12449
- National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine. (2018). Timely access to mental health care. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK499495
- Nelson, C. (2022). What is the 'Triple Aim' of healthcare? https://www.phoenix.edu/blog/what-is-the-triple-aim-of-healthcare.html
- Newbould, L., Mountain, G., Hawley, M.S., & Ariss, S. (2017). Videoconferencing for health care provision for older adults in care homes: A review of the research evidence. *International journal of telemedicine and applications*, 2017.
- Newins, A. R., Wilson, S., Hopkins, T., Straits-Troster, K., Kudler, H., & Calhound, P. (2019). Barriers to the use of veteran affairs health care services among female veterans who served in Iraq in Afghanistan. *Psychological Services, 16*(3): 484090. https://doi.org/10.1037/ser0000230
- Nicosia, F. M., Kaul, B., Totten, A., Silvestrini, M., Williams, K., Whooley, M., & Sarmiento, K. F. (2021). Leveraging telehealth to improve access to care: A qualitative evaluation of Veterans' experience with the VA TeleSleep program. *BMC health services research*, 21(1), 1-9.

Nocella, J., Dickson, V., Cleland, C., & Melkus, G. (2016). Structure, process, and outcomes of care in a telemonitoring program for patients with type 2 diabetes. <u>https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/27042150/</u>

Nuti, S., Qin, L., Rumsfeld, J., Ross, J., Masoudi, F., Normand, S., Murugiah, K.,
Bernheim, S., Suter, L., & Krumholz, H. (2017). Association of admission to
veterans affairs hospitals versus non-veterans affairs hospitals with mortality and
readmission rates among older men hospitalized with acute myocardial infarction,
heart failure, and pneumonia. *JAMA*.

https://ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC549395/

- Norman, A. (2020). An overview of the triple aim. *Health Reform*. <u>https://www.verywellhealth.com/triple-aim-4174961</u>
- Oberkircher, K. (2022). The next chapter of telemedicine. *Leaders Edge*. https://www.leadersedge.com/healthcare/the-next-chapter-of-telemedicine
- O'Dea. S. (2020). Smartphone ownership in the U.S. 2011-2019. *Technology & Telecommunications*. <u>https://www.statista.com/statistics/219865/percentat-of-us-adults-who-own-a-smartphone</u>
- Office of Rural Health. (n.d.). 2010 census urban and rural classification and urban area criteria. <u>https://www.census.gov/programs-surveys/geography/guidance/geo-</u> <u>areas/urban-rural/2010-urban-rural.html</u>
- Office of Public and Intergovernmental Affairs (2020). VA Video connect visits increase 1000% during COVID-19 pandemic.

https://www.va.gov/opa/pressrelease.cfm?id=5467

Office of Rural Health (2021). Rural Veterans.

https://www.ruralhealth.va.gov/aboutus/ruralvets.asap

- Ohl, M. E., Carrell, M., Thurman, A., Vander Weg, M. Hudson, T., Mengeling, M., & Vaughan-Sarrazin, M. (2018). Availability of healthcare providers for rural veterans eligible for purchased care under the veteran's choice act. *BMC Health Services Research*, 18(1), 1-7. <u>https://doi.org/10/1186/s12913-018-30198-8</u>
- Olsen, E. (2022). Outpatient telehealth use declines, but is still elevated from prepandemic era. <u>https://www.mobilhealthnews.com/news/analysis-outpatient-</u> <u>telehealt-use-decline-still-elevated-pre-pandemic-era</u>
- Ortiz-Velez, A., & Garcia-Baran, D. (2019). Veterans' access to health care services in a North Carolina Rural Area. Veterans' Access to Health Care Services in a North Carolina Rural Area. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/e510102019-001</u>
- Ortholive (2019). Telehealth improves patient satisfaction and reduces hospital Admissions. <u>https://www.ortholive.com/blog/telehealth-improve-patient-</u> satisfaction-and-reduces-hospital-admission/
- Padala, K. P., Wilson, K.B., Gauss, C., Stovall, J., & Padala, P. (2020). VA video connect for clinical care in older adults in a rural state during the COVID-19 pandemic: Cross-sectional study. *Journal of Medical Internet Research*, 22(9), e21561.
- Pallant, J. (2020). SPSS Survival Manual. A step by step guide to data analysis using IBM SPSS. Open University Press: McGraw-Hill.

- Peters, G., Kooij, L., Lenferink, A., van Harten, W., & Doggen, C. (2021). The effect of telehealth on hospital services use: Systematic review and meta-analysis. *J Med Internet Res.* <u>https://doi.org/10.2196/25195</u>
- Peterson, K., McCleery, E., & Helfand, M. (2014). Memo: An evidence-based wait time threshold.

https://www.hsrd.research.va.gov/publications/esp/WaitTimesMemo.pdf

- Pettey, W., Wagner, T., Rosen, A., Beilstein-Wedel, E, Shwartz, M, & Vanneman, E. (2021). Comparing driving miles for department of veteran's affairs-delivered versus department of veteran's affairs-purchased cataract surgery. *Med Care*. <u>https://doi.org/10.10197/MLF.00000000001491</u>
- Pimentel, C. B., Gately, M., Barczi, S., Boockvar, K., Bowman, E. H., Capri, T. & Hung, W.(2019). GRECC Connect: Geriatrics telehealth to empower health care providers and improve management of older veterans in rural communities. *Federal Practitioner, 36*(10), 464.
- Pringle, J. L., Milicevic, A. S., Fawcett, J. A., May, J. H. Kearney, S. M., Tjader, Y. C., Vargas, D., & Radcack, J. (2019). MyVA access: An evaluation of changes in access for a system-wide program implemented in the veterans administrations.
- Pyne, J. M., Kelly, P. A., Fischer, E. P., Miller, C. J., Wright, P., Zamora, K., Koenig, C., Stanley, R., Seal, K., Burgess, J., Jr., & Fortney, J. (2020). Development of the perceived access inventory: A patient-centered measure of access to mental health care. *Psychological Services*, 17(1), 13-24. https://doi.org/1.1037/ser0000235

- Reese, R. L., Clement, S. A., Syeda, S., Hawley, C. E., Gosian, J. S., Cai, S. & Driver, J. (2019). Coordinated-transitional care for veterans with heart failure and chronic lung disease. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, 67(7), 1502-1507. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/jgs.15978</u>
- Resnick, R. (2019). The two forms of telemedicine: Synchronous vs. asynchronous. https://blog.cureatr.com/two-forms-telemedicine-synchronous-vs-asynchronous
- RHIhub (Rural Health Information Hub) (2021). Healthcare access in rural communities. https://www.ruralhealthinfo.org/topics/healthcare-access
- Rodriquez, T. (2018). Priorities for telehealth research: Changing the physician-patient relationship. *Medical Bag.* <u>https://www.medicalbag.com</u>
- Rural Health Information Hub. (2020). *Healthcare access in rural communities*. <u>https://www.ruralhealthinfor.org/topics/healthcare-access</u>
- Rural-Urban Commuting Area (RUCA) (2021). What are rural-urban commuting area (RUCA) codes. <u>https://familmedicine.uw.edu/rhc/ruca</u>
- Ryskina, K., Shultz, K., Zhou, Y., Lautenbach, G. & Brown, R. (2021). Older adults access to primary care: Gender, racial and ethnic disparities in telemedicine. *J Am Geriatr* Soc. Oct; 6 (10):2732-2740. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/jgs.17354</u>
- Schulz-Heik, R. J., Meyer, H., Mahoney, L., Stanton, M.V., Cho, R.H., Moore-Downing,
  D.P. & Bayley, P.J. (2017). Results for a clinical yoga program for veterans:
  Yoga via telehealth provides comparable satisfaction and health improvements to
  in-person yoga. *BMC complementary and alternative medicine*, *17(1)*, 1-9.

- Shayman, C., Ha, Y., Raz, Y., & Hullar, T. (2019). Geographic disparities in US Veterans' access to cochlear implant care within the veterans' health administration system, *JAMA Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg*. <u>https://doi.org/10.1001/jamaoto.2019.1918</u>
- Slightam, C., Gregory, A. J., Hu, J., Jacobs, J., Gurmessa, T., Kimerling, R. & Zulman,D.M. (2020). Patient perceptions of video visits using veterans' affairs telehealthtablets: survey study. *Journal of medical Internet research*, 22(4), el5682.
- Smith, A., Addison, R., Rogers, P., Stone-McLean, J., Boyd, S., Hoover, K. & Parsons,
  M. (2018). Remote mentoring of point-of-care ultrasound skills to inexperienced operators using multiple telemedicine platforms: is a cell phone good enough? *Journal of Ultrasound in Medicine*, *37*(11), 2517-2525.
- Society of the Study of Addiction (SSA) (2019). What is mobile health? https://www.addiction-ssa.org/knowledge-hub/what-is-mobile-health/
- Struminger, B., & Arora, S. (2019). Leveraging telehealth to improve health care access in rural America: It takes more than bandwidth. <u>https://pubmed-ncbi-nlm-nih-gov.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/31108511/</u>
- Sun, S., & Wang, G. (2021). Does telehealth reduce rural-urban care access disparities? Evidence from COVID-19 telehealth expansion.

https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract\_id=3836994

Suran, M. (2022). Increases use of Medicare telehealth during the pandemic.

JAMA.2022;327(4):313. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2021.23332

- Thomas, A., Duber, H., Scott, K., & Dieleman, J. (2022). The United States has a primary care problem. <u>https://www.thinkglobalhealth.org/article/united-states-has-a-primary-care-problem</u>
- Tripathy, J. P. (2013). Secondary data analysis: Ethical issues and challenges. *Iranian journal of public health, 42*(12), 1478-1479.
- Trochim, W., Donnelly, J., & Arora, K. (2016). Research methods: The essential knowledge base. Cengage Learning.
- Tuckson, R., Edmunds, M. & Hodgkins, M. (2017). Telehealth. The New England Journal. <u>https://doi-org/10.1056/NEJMsr1503323</u>
- USC Libraries (2021). Research Guides.

https://libguides.usc.edu/writingguide/limitations

Upadhyay, S., Stephenson, A., & Smith, D. (2019). Readmission rates and their impact on hospital financial performance: A study of Washington Hospital.

https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC6614936

U.S. Department of Health & Human Services (2020). *Telehealth: Delivering Care Safely During COVID-19*.

https://www.hhs.gov/coronavirus/telehealth/index.htmle

U.S. Department of Agriculture Economic Research Service (USDA ERS) (2019). What is rural? <u>https://www.ers.usda.gov/topics/rural-economy-population/rural-</u>classifications/what-is-rural.aspx

U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs. (2016). Top VA health care official announces initiatives and progress made to improve access to care.

https://www.va.gov/opa/pressrel/pressrelease.cfm?id=2775

USC Libraries (2021). Research Guides.

https://libguides.usc.edu/writingguide/limitations

VA Telehealth (2019). At Home. https://telehealth.va.gov/type/home

- Veterans Choice Program (2018). Improvements needed to address access-related challenges as VA plans consolidation of its community care programs. *GAO Reports*, i-94.
- VA Information Resource Center. (2018).

https://www.virec.research.va.gov/VINCI/Overview.htm

VHA Handbook (2013). VHA Site classification and definitions.

https://www.va.gov/VHAPublications/ViewPublication.asp?pub\_ID=2970

VINCI (2020). VA Informatics and Computing Infrastructure.

https://www.research.va.gov/programs/vinci/default.cfm#;text=VA%20Informatic

s%20and%20Computing%20Infrastructur%20%28ViNCI%29

- VSSC (2021). VHA Support Service Center. https://vssc.med.va.gov/VSSCMainApp
- Wagner, T. (2019). Access to specialty care for Veterans with complex conditions. https://www.hsrd.research.va.gov/research/abstracts.cfm?Project\_ID=214170402
- Warsaw, R. (2017). Health disparities affect millions in rural U.S. communities.
  <u>https://www.aamc.org/news-insights/health-disparities-affect-millions-rural-us-communities</u>

Western Health, (2016). Understanding wait times.

https://www.westerhealth.nl/ca/home-wait-times-2/understanding-wait-times

- West Virginia Health and Human Resource Bureau for Public Health (2018). Creating a culture of health in rural West Virginia: State rural health plan 2018-2022.
   <a href="https://wvha.org/w-content/uploads/2017/08/2018-State-Rural-Health-Plan-Final.pdf">https://wvha.org/w-content/uploads/2017/08/2018-State-Rural-Health-Plan-Final.pdf</a>
- West Virginia Health Statistics Center (2019).

https://www.wvdhr.ogr/bph/hsc/pubs/vital/2019/Vital2019.pdf

- Wicklund, E. (2018). Store-and-Forward telemedicine services expand connected health. *mHealth Intelligence*. <u>https://mhealthintelligence.com/features/store-and-forward-</u> telemedicine-services-expand-connected-health
- Wilson, L., & Maeder, A. (2015). Recent directions in telemedicine: Review of trends in research and practice. *Health Information Research*.

https://doi.org/10.4258/hir.2015.21.4.213

Wong, E.S., Liu, C-F., Hernandez, S.E., Augustine, M.R., Nelson, K., Fihn, S.D., & Hebert, P.L. (2018). Longer wait times affect future use of VHA primary care. *Healthcare*, 6(3), 180-185. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.hjdsi.2017.07.003</u>

World Population Review. (2022a). Most rural states. https://worldpopulationreview.com

World Population Review. (2022b). West Virginia population.

https://worldpopulationreview.com/states/west-virginia-population

Zhenzhen, X., & Calvin, O. (2017). Association between waiting times, service times, and patient satisfaction in an endocrinology outpatient department: A time study and questionnaire survey. Inquiry: a journal of medical care organization,

provision and financing, 54, 46958017739527.

https://doi.org/10.11777/0046958017739527